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Part I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements
U.S. ENERGY CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
September 30, 2018
(unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Oil and gas sales receivable
Discontinued operations - assets of mining segment
Assets available for sale
Marketable securities
Transaction deposit
Other current assets

$

Total current assets
Oil and gas properties under full cost method:
Unevaluated properties
Evaluated properties
Less accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization
Net oil and gas properties
Other assets:
Property and equipment, net
Other assets
Total other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES, PREFERRED STOCK AND SHAREHOLDERS’EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Oil and gas payables
Related party payable
Accrued compensation and benefits
Commodity derivative contracts
Credit Facility
Total current liabilities

$

2,993
927
956
374
154

December 31, 2017
(restated)

$

3,277
687
114
653
876
250
61

5,404

5,918

4,753
86,432
(83,707)

4,664
86,313
(83,362)

7,478

7,615

2,280
80

1,717
66

2,360

1,783

15,242

$

15,316

390
401
37
937

707
50
64
161
600

1,765

1,582

932
722
26
1,680

913
937
1,200
22
3,072

2,000

2,000

Noncurrent liabilities:
Asset retirement obligations
Credit Facility
Warrant liability
Other liabilities
Total noncurrent liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Preferred stock:
Authorized 100,000 shares, 50,000 shares of Series A Convertible (par value $0.01) issued
and outstanding as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017; liquidation preference of
$2,769 and $2,527 as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value; unlimited shares authorized; 13,405,838 and 11,820,057
shares issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities, preferred stock and shareholders’ equity

134
136,701
(127,038)

118
134,632
(126,088)

9,797

8,662

15,242

15,316

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
-3-

U.S. ENERGY CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Three Months Ended
September 30:
2018
Revenue:
Oil
Natural gas and liquids

$

Total revenue
Operating expenses:
Oil and gas operations:
Lease operating expenses
Production taxes
Depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion
General and administrative:
Compensation and benefits, including director and
contract employees
Stock-based compensation
Professional services
Insurance, rent and other
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)

Total other income (expense)
Net income (loss)
Change in fair value of marketable equity securities
Comprehensive income (loss)
Income (loss) applicable to common shareholders:
Income (loss)
Accrued dividends related to Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock
Income (loss) applicable to common
shareholders
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

2017

1,120
102

$

2018

1,311
227

$

2017

3,642
708

$

4,141
1,135

1,222

1,538

4,350

5,276

357
96
81

743
113
146

1,431
316
365

2,316
396
618

222
13
286
100

190
77
268
64

1,548
623
855
328

544
289
1,618
301

1,155

1,601

5,466

6,082

67

Other income (expense):
(Loss) gain on commodity derivative contracts
Change in fair value of marketable securities
Gain on sale of assets
Rental and other (expense) income, net
Warrant fair value adjustment
Interest expense

Nine Months Ended
September 30:

(63)

(1,116)

(806)

(14)
203
(53)
288
(24)

(166)
53
(70)
(136)

(225)
80
(84)
478
(83)

246
1
(296)
450
(382)

400

(319)

166

19

467

(382)

(950)

(787)

-

(158)

-

(482)

$

467

$

(540)

$

(950)

$

(1,269)

$

467

$

(382)

$

(950)

$

(787)

(84)

(74)

(242)

(219)

$

383

$

(456)

$

(1,192)

$

(1,006)

$
$

0.03
0.03

$
$

(0.08)
(0.08)

$
$

(0.09)
(0.09)

$
$

(0.17)
(0.17)

13,234,709
13,255,109

5,834,568
5,834,568

12,697,206
12,697,206

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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5,834,568
5,834,568

U.S. ENERGY CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 AND 2017
(In thousands)
2018
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion, amortization and accretion
Change in fair value of commodity derivative contracts
Stock-based compensation and services
Warrant fair value adjustment
Change in fair value of marketable securities
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in:
Oil and gas sales receivable
Other assets
Transaction deposit
Increase (decrease) in:
Oil and gas payables and related party payable
Accrued compensation and benefits

$

2017

(950)

$

(787)

465
(124)
623
(478)
(80)
14

732
(29)
289
(450)
(189)

(240)
(4)
(124)

98
(35)
-

(367)
337

(335)
20

(928)

(706)

(9)
(209)

23
(21)

(218)

2

(600)
(204)
1,666

-

Net cash provided by financing activities

862

-

Net decrease in cash and equivalents

(284)

Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from asset sale
Capital expenditures
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities:
Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment on Credit Facility
Repurchase of employee shares to satisfy tax withholding
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

(704)

3,277

2,518

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$

2,993

$

1,814

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest

$

105

$

320

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
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1. ORGANIZATION, OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Organization and Operations
U.S. Energy Corp. (collectively with its subsidiaries referred to as the “Company” or “U.S. Energy”) was incorporated in the State of Wyoming on January 26,
1966. The Company’s principal business activities are focused on the acquisition, exploration and development of oil and gas properties in the United States.
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(“U.S. GAAP”) and have been prepared by the Company pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”)
regarding interim financial reporting. Accordingly, certain information and footnote disclosures required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements have
been condensed or omitted in accordance with such rules and regulations. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring
adjustments) considered necessary for a fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements have been included.
For further information, refer to the consolidated financial statements and footnotes thereto included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and 10K/A for the year
ended December 31, 2017. Our financial condition as of September 30, 2018, and operating results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018
are not necessarily indicative of the financial condition and results of operations that may be expected for any future interim period or for the year ending
December 31, 2018.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates include oil and gas reserves that are used in the calculation of depreciation, depletion, amortization
and impairment of the carrying value of both evaluated oil and gas properties as well as unevaluated properties; production and commodity price estimates used
to record accrued oil and gas sales receivable; valuation of commodity derivative instruments; and the cost of future asset retirement obligations. The Company
evaluates its estimates on an on-going basis and bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions the Company believes to be
reasonable. Due to inherent uncertainties, including the future prices of oil and gas, these estimates could change in the near term and such changes could be
material.
Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary Energy One LLC (“Energy One”). All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Correction of Immaterial Errors
The accompanying December 31, 2017, restated condensed consolidated balance sheet includes a correction related to the classification and presentation of
the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Preferred Stock”). The Preferred Stock had been reported in stockholders’ equity from the date of issuance in
February 2016. During the three months ended September 30, 2018, the Company determined that the Preferred Stock should not be included in stockholders’
equity, due to a redemption feature outside the control of the Company, whereby the holders may require redemption in the event of a change in control. The
Company has corrected the presentation on the balance sheet to exclude the Preferred Stock from stockholders’ equity. The correction of the error reclassified
$2.0 million from stockholders’ equity into temporary equity but had no effect on previously reported net income or earnings per share in any prior period.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
Revenue recognition. In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued a comprehensive new revenue recognition standard that
supersedes the revenue recognition requirements in Topic 605, Revenue Recognition, and industry-specific guidance in Subtopic 932-605, Extractive ActivitiesOil and Gas-Revenue Recognition. The core principle of the new guidance is that a company should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring those goods or
services. The new standard also requires significantly expanded disclosure regarding the qualitative and quantitative information of an entity’s nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. The standard creates a five-step model that requires companies to
exercise judgment when considering the terms of a contract and all relevant facts and circumstances. The standard allows for several transition methods: (a) a
full retrospective adoption in which the standard is applied to all of the periods presented, or (b) a modified retrospective adoption in which the standard is
applied only to the most current period presented in the financial statements, including additional disclosures of the standard’s application impact to individual
financial statement line items. In March, April, May and December 2016, the FASB issued new guidance in Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
to address the following potential implementation issues of the new revenue standard: (a) to clarify the implementation guidance on principal versus agent
considerations, (b) to clarify the identification of performance obligations and the licensing implementation guidance and (c) to address certain issues in the
guidance on assessing collectability, presentation of sales taxes, noncash consideration, and completed contracts and contract modifications at transition. This
standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within that reporting period. The Company follows
the sales method of accounting for oil and natural gas production, which is generally consistent with the revenue recognition provision of the new standard. The
Company has completed the process of evaluating the effect of the adoption and determined there were no changes required to our reported revenues as a
result of the adoption. The majority of our revenue arrangements generally consist of a single performance obligation to transfer promised goods or services.
Based on our evaluation process and review of our contracts with customers, the timing and amount of revenue recognized based on the standard is consistent
with our revenue recognition policy under previous guidance. The Company adopted the new standard effective January 1, 2018, using the modified
retrospective approach, and has expanded its financial statement disclosures in order to comply with the standard. The Company implemented processes and
controls to ensure new contracts are reviewed for the appropriate accounting treatment and to generate the disclosures required under the new standard in the
first quarter of 2018. We have determined the adoption of the standard did not have a material impact on our results of operations, cash flows, or financial
position.
Financial Instruments. In January 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-01 Financial Instruments, Overall (Subtopic 82510), Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (“ASU 2016-01”). The amendments in the ASU 2016-01 require equity
investments, other than those accounted for under the equity method or result in consolidation of an investee, to be measured at fair value with changes in fair
value recognized in income. The amendment is effective for public business entities with fiscal years beginning after December 31, 2017. The Company
adopted this standard on January 1, 2018, with a cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings at December 31, 2017 of $903 thousand. The adjustment to
retained earnings related to fair value changes of marketable securities that had been accumulated previously in other comprehensive loss. Prospectively,
unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities are recorded in earnings under the caption in other income, changes in fair value of marketable securities.
Prior period gains and losses are recorded in other comprehensive loss; therefore, current year periods are not comparable to periods in the prior year.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
Leases. In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU- No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The standard requires lessees to recognize the assets and liabilities
that arise from leases on the balance sheet. A lessee should recognize in the statement of financial position a liability to make lease payments (the lease
liability) and a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset for the lease term. The new guidance is effective for annual and interim
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. The amendments should be applied at the beginning of the earliest period presented using a modified
retrospective approach with earlier application permitted as of the beginning of an interim or annual reporting period. The update does not apply to leases of
mineral rights to explore for or use crude oil or natural gas. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the new guidance on its consolidated financial
statements, however, based on its current operating leases and status as a non-operator, it is not expected to have a material impact on its condensed and
consolidated balance sheet or statement of operations.
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Financial instruments with characteristics of liabilities and equity. In July 2017, the FASB has issued a two-part ASU No. 2017-11, I. Accounting for Certain
Financials Instruments with Down Round Features and II. Replacement of the Indefinite Deferral for Mandatorily Redeemable Financial Instruments of Certain
Nonpublic Entities and Certain Mandatorily Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest with a Scope Exception. The ASU is effective for public business entities for
fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company is currently evaluating the effect that adopting this
guidance will have on its consolidated financial position, cash flows and results of operations.
Fair value measurement. In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, Disclosure Framework - Changes to Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value
Measurement (“ASU 2018-13”). ASU 2018-13 modifies the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements in Topic 820 Fair Value Measurement. ASU
2018-13 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those years. The Company is evaluating the impact the
new guidance will have on its condensed and consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
2. REVENUE RECOGNITION
The Company adopted ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) and the series of related accounting standard updates that
followed, on January 1, 2018, using the modified retrospective method of adoption. Adoption of the ASU did not require an adjustment to the opening balance of
equity and did not change the Company’s amount and timing of revenues. The Company reports revenues utilizing information provided by the operator of the
property following the same guidance. Adoption of this guidance applied to all contracts at the date of initial application and all contracts reflect the non-operated
nature of the Company’s existing operations.
The Company’s revenues are primarily derived from its interests in the sale of oil and natural gas production. The Company recognizes revenue from its
interests in the sales of oil and natural gas in the period that its performance obligations are satisfied. Performance obligations are satisfied when the customer
obtains control of product (as disclosed below), when the Company has no further obligations to perform related to the sale, when the transaction price has been
determined and when collectability is probable. The sales of oil and natural gas are made under contracts which the third-party operators of the wells have
negotiated with customers, which typically include variable consideration that is based on pricing tied to local indices and volumes delivered in the current month.
The Company receives payment from the sale of oil and natural gas production from one to three months after delivery. At the end of each month when the
performance obligation is satisfied, the variable consideration can be reasonably estimated and amounts due from customers are accrued in oil and gas sales
receivable, net in the consolidated balance sheets. Variances between the Company’s estimated revenue and actual payments are recorded in the month the
payment is received, however, differences have been and are insignificant. Accordingly, the variable consideration is not constrained.
The Company does not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations as it applies the practical exemption in accordance with ASC 606 since the
Company contracts are month to month and not in excess of one year. The exemption, as described in ASC 606-10-50-14(a), applies to variable consideration
that is recognized as control of the product is transferred to the customer. Since each unit of product represents a separate performance obligation, future
volumes are wholly unsatisfied, and disclosure of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations is not required.
The Company’s oil is typically sold at delivery points under contract terms that are common in our industry. The Company’s natural gas produced is delivered by
the well operators to various purchasers at agreed upon delivery points under a limited number of contract types that are also common in our industry. However,
under these contracts, the natural gas may be sold to a single purchaser or may be sold to separate purchasers. Regardless of the contract type, the terms of
these contracts compensate the well operators for the value of the oil and natural gas at specified prices, and then the well operators will remit payment to the
Company for its share in the value of the oil and natural gas sold. There were no contract liabilities at the date of adoption or for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018.
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The following table presents our disaggregated revenue by major source and geographic area for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and
2017 (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
Revenue:
North Dakota
Oil
Natural gas and liquids

$

Total
Texas
Oil
Natural gas and liquids

Louisiana
Oil

(1)

795
65
860

$

(2)
(2)
$

1,222

2018

1,091
111
1,202

$

220
99
319

-

Natural gas and liquids (1)
Total
Combined Total

2017

325
39
364

Total

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

$

2017

2,384
240
2,624

$

1,258
168
1,426

3,350
290
3,640

791
366
1,157

-

-

-

17
17

300
300

479
479

1,538

$

4,350

$

5,276

Negative production attributable to a combination of an over-accrual in June 2018, which was reversed in July 2018 and maintenance-related downtime
on a specific well in Louisiana.

3. ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR SALE
During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company reclassified $0.7 million of assets reported as available for sale at December 31, 2017 to
property and equipment, net. These assets are comprised of land parcels owned by Energy One in Riverton, Wyoming. The Company has determined that the
assets do not meet all the criteria for classification as available for sale because, although the Company has a plan for disposing of the assets, it is not actively
marketing them and does not consider it probable that the assets will be sold within the next 12 months.
4. LIQUIDITY
As of September 30, 2018, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $3.0 million and working capital of $3.6 million. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2018, the Company incurred a net loss of $1.0 million and used $0.9 million of cash in operating activities.
Our strategy is to continue to (1) maintain adequate liquidity and selectively participate in new drilling and completion activities, subject to economic and industry
conditions, (2) pursue accretive acquisition opportunities, and (3) address the July 2019 maturity of our existing credit facility through either extending the
maturity of the existing credit facility or entering into a new credit facility with a new lender. We expect to fund any near-term capital requirements and working
capital needs from existing cash on hand. Because production from existing oil and natural gas wells declines over time, further reductions of capital
expenditures used to drill and complete new oil and natural gas wells would likely result in lower levels of oil and natural gas production in the future.
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5. COMMODITY RISK DERIVATIVES
The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Energy One has entered into commodity price derivative contracts (“economic hedges”) with BP Energy, a third-party
hedge counterparty. The derivative contracts are priced based on West Texas Intermediate (“WTI”) quoted prices for crude oil and Henry Hub quoted prices for
natural gas. The Company is a guarantor of Energy One’s obligations under the economic hedges, which, are pari-passu to amounts borrowed under the Credit
Facility and are secured by Energy One’s oil and gas properties. The objective of utilizing the economic hedges is to reduce the effect of price changes on a
portion of the Company’s future oil production, achieve more predictable cash flows in an environment of volatile oil and natural gas prices and to manage the
Company’s exposure to commodity price risk. The use of these derivative instruments limits the downside risk of adverse price movements. However, there is a
risk that such use may limit the Company’s ability to benefit from favorable price movements. Energy One may, from time to time, add commodity price
derivatives to hedge additional production, restructure existing derivative contracts or enter into new transactions to modify the terms of current contracts in order
to realize the current value of its existing positions. The Company does not engage in speculative derivative activities or derivative trading activities, nor does it
use derivatives with leveraged features. The Company had a net liability from commodity risk derivatives of $37 thousand at September 30, 2018 and $161
thousand at December 31, 2017. Presented below is a summary of outstanding crude oil and natural gas swaps as of September 30, 2018.

Begin
Crude oil price swaps

10/1/18

12/31/18

Begin
Natural gas price swaps

Quantity
(bbls/d)

End

100

$

68.50

Quantity
(mcf/d)

End

10/1/18

Price

12/31/18

Price
500

$

3.01

Derivatives are recorded at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets. Changes in fair value are included in the “(loss) gain on commodity derivative
contracts” in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. For the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the
Company’s unrealized gains from derivatives amounted to $124 thousand and $29 thousand, respectively. Derivative contract settlements are included in the
(loss) gain on commodity derivative contracts in the condensed consolidated statement of operations. For the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and
2017, the Company’s realized (loss) gain from derivatives amounted to $(349) thousand and $217 thousand, respectively. All derivative positions are carried at
their fair value and included in Commodity derivative contracts on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The following table summarizes the fair value of
our open commodity derivatives as of September 30, 2018, and December 31, 2017 (in thousands). Please see Note 14 for further disclosure.

Fair Value of Oil and Natural Gas Derivatives (in
thousands)
Fair value of oil and natural gas derivatives – Current
Assets
Fair value of oil and natural gas derivatives – Current
Liabilities

September 30, 2018
Amount
Offset

Gross
Amount
$

4

$

(4)

(41)

4
-10-

As
Presented
$

Gross
Amount
-

(37)

$

December 31, 2017
Amount
As
Offset
Presented

168

(329)

$

(168)

168

$

-

(161)

6. OIL AND GAS PRODUCING ACTIVITIES
Divestitures
On October 3, 2017, the Company, Energy One and Statoil Oil and Gas LP (“Statoil”) entered into a purchase and sale agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Company assigned, sold, and conveyed certain non-operated assets in the Williston Basin, North Dakota in consideration for the
elimination of $4.0 million in outstanding liabilities to Statoil and payment by Statoil to the Company of $2.0 million in cash. U.S. Energy has historically accounted
for the eliminated liabilities on the Company’s balance sheet under “Payable to major operator” and “Contingent ownership interests.” The Purchase Agreement
was unanimously approved by the board of directors of the Company and closed on October 5, 2017, with an effective date of August 1, 2017.
Ceiling Test and Impairment
The reserves used in the Company’s full cost ceiling test incorporate assumptions regarding pricing and discount rates in the determination of present value. In
the calculation of the ceiling test as of September 30, 2018, the Company used a price of $59.78 per barrel of oil and $2.83 per MMbtu of natural gas (in each
case adjusted for transportation, quality, and basis differentials applicable to our properties on a weighted average basis) to compute the future cash flows of the
Company’s producing properties. These prices compare to $47.01 per barrel of oil and $2.98 per MMbtu of natural gas used in the calculation of the ceiling test
as of December 31, 2017. The discount factor used was 10%.
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded no impairment charges.
7. DEBT
On December 27, 2017, the Company received shareholder approval for the exchange agreement (“Exchange Agreement”) by and among the Company, Energy
One and APEG Energy II, L.P., (“APEG”), an entity controlled by Angelus Private Equity Group, LLC pursuant to which, on the terms and subject to the
conditions of the Exchange Agreement, APEG exchanged $4.5 million of outstanding borrowings under the Company’s Credit Facility, for 5,819,270 newlyissued shares of common stock of the Company, par value $0.01 per share, with an exchange price of $0.767 representing a 1.3% premium over the 30-day
volume weighted average price of the Company’s common stock on September 20, 2017 (the “Exchange Shares”). Accrued, unpaid interest on the Credit
Facility held by APEG was paid in cash at the closing of the transaction. As of September 30, 2018, APEG holds approximately 43% of the outstanding
Common Stock of U.S. Energy.
Energy One, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has a Credit Facility (the “Credit Facility”) with APEG which matures in July 2019. As of September 30,
2018, outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility amounted to $937 thousand. Borrowings under the Credit Facility are secured by Energy One’s oil and
gas producing properties. The interest rate on the Credit Facility is currently fixed at 8.75%.
Pursuant to the terms of the Credit Facility, Energy One is required to comply with customary affirmative covenants and with certain negative covenants. The
principal negative financial covenants do not permit (as the following terms are defined in the Fifth Amendment to the Credit Agreement) (i) Proved Developed
Producing Coverage Ratio to be less than 1.2 to 1; and (ii) the current ratio to be less than 1.0 to 1.0. Additionally, the Credit Facility prohibits or limits Energy
One’s ability to incur additional debt, pay cash dividends and other restricted payments, sell assets, enter into transactions with affiliates, and to merge or
consolidate with another company. The Company is a guarantor of Energy One’s obligations under the Credit Facility. As of September 30, 2018, the Company
was in compliance with all Credit Facility covenants.
8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Commitments
Lessee Operating Leases. In August 2017, the Company entered into a lease agreement for office space in Denver, Colorado. The original term of the lease is
65 months; extending until January 2023. At September 30, 2018, the future minimum rental commitments of the lease were $319 thousand. The following table
presents the future minimum rental commitments at September 30, 2018, by year (in thousands):
Year
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

Amount
$
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18
72
73
74
76
6

Contingencies
From time to time, the Company is party to certain legal actions and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. While the outcome of these events cannot
be predicted with certainty, management does not expect these matters to have a materially adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of
operations.
9. PREFERRED STOCK
The Company’s articles of incorporation authorize the issuance of up to 100,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.01 par value. Shares of preferred stock may be
issued with such dividend, liquidation, voting and conversion features as may be determined by the Board of Directors without shareholder approval. The
Company is authorized to issue 50,000 shares of Series P preferred stock in connection with a shareholder rights plan that expired in 2011.
On February 12, 2016, the Company issued 50,000 shares of newly designated Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the Preferred Stock”) to Mt. Emmons
Mining Company (“MEM”), a subsidiary of Freeport McMoRan. (the “Series A Purchase Agreement”) The Preferred Stock was issued in connection with the
disposition of the Company’s mining segment, whereby MEM acquired property and replaced the Company as permittee and operator of a water treatment plant
(the “Acquisition Agreement”). The Preferred Stock was issued at $40 per share for an aggregate $2 million. The Preferred Stock liquidation preference, initially
$2 million, increases by quarterly dividends of 12.25% per annum (the “Adjusted Liquidation Preference”). At the option of the holder, each share of Preferred
Stock may initially be converted into 13.33 shares of the Company’s $0.01 par value Common Stock (the “Conversion Rate”) for an aggregate of 666,667
shares. The Conversion Rate is subject to anti-dilution adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends and certain reorganization events and to price-based antidilution protections. At September 30, 2018, the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion is 793,349 shares, which is the
maximum number of shares issuable upon conversion.
The Preferred Stock is senior to other classes or series of shares of the Company with respect to dividend rights and rights upon liquidation. No dividend or
distribution will be declared or paid on junior stock, including the Company’s common stock, (1) unless approved by the holders of Preferred Stock and (2)
unless and until a like dividend has been declared and paid on the Preferred Stock on an as-converted basis. The Preferred Stock does not vote with the
Company’s Common Stock on an as-converted basis on matters put before the Company’s shareholders. However, the holders of the Preferred Stock have the
right to approve specified matters as set forth in the certificate of designations and have the right to require the Company to repurchase the Preferred Stock in
connection with a change of control. Concurrent with entry into the Acquisition Agreement and the Series A Purchase Agreement, the Company and MEM
entered into an Investor Rights Agreement, which provides MEM rights to certain information and Board observer rights. MEM has agreed that it, along with its
affiliates, will not acquire more than 16.86% of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock. In addition, MEM has the right to demand
registration of the shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Preferred Stock under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
10. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
At-the-Market Offering
On January 5, 2018, we entered into a common stock sales agreement with a financial institution pursuant to which we may offer and sell, through the sales
agent, common stock representing an aggregate offering price of up to $2.5 million through an at-the-market continuous offering program. During the three
months ended September 30, 2018, we issued 357,680 shares of common stock at an average price of $1.52 per share for total proceeds of approximately $0.5
million. Since the beginning of the program in January 2018 through September 30, 2018, we have issued 1,288,537 shares of common stock at an average
price of $1.41 for total net proceeds after offering expenses of approximately $1.8 million, leaving $0.7 million available to be issued under the at-the-market
offering program.
-12-

Warrants
On December 21, 2016, the Company completed a registered direct offering of 1,000,000 shares of common stock at a gross price of $1.50 per share.
Concurrently, the investors received warrants to purchase 1,000,000 shares of common stock of the Company at an exercise price of $2.05 per share for a
period of five years from closing. The total net proceeds received by the Company were approximately $1.32 million. The fair value of the warrants upon
issuance was $1.24 million, with the remaining $80 thousand being attributed to common stock. The warrants contain a dilutive issuance and other liability
provisions which cause the warrants to be accounted for as a liability. Such warrant instruments are initially recorded as a liability and are accounted for at fair
value with changes in fair value reported in earnings. As of September 30, 2018, and December 31, 2017, the Company had a warrant liability of $722 thousand
and $1.2 million, respectively. As a result of common stock issuances made during the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the warrant exercise price was
reduced from $2.05 to $1.13 per share pursuant to the original warrant agreement.
Stock Options
From time to time, the Company grants stock options to directors, executive officers, employees and contractors of the Company under its Amended and
Restated 2012 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan (the “2012 Plan”). Stock options, when exercised, are settled through the payment of the exercise price in
exchange for new shares of stock underlying the option. These awards typically expire ten years from the grant date.
For the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, no stock options were granted, exercised, forfeited and 69,225 options expired. As of September 30,
2018, there was $58 thousand of unrecognized expense related to unvested stock options that were previously granted, which will be recognized as stock-based
compensation expense through November 2019. Presented below is information about stock options outstanding and exercisable as of September 30, 2018 and
December 31, 2017:
September 30, 2018

(1)

December 31, 2017

Price (1)

Shares

Price (1)

Shares

Stock options outstanding

320,462

$

6.52

389,687

$

8.05

Stock options exercisable

210,462

$

9.32

274,132

$

10.79

Represents the weighted average price.

The following table summarizes information for stock options outstanding and exercisable at September 30, 2018:
Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable
Weighted

Exercise Price
Number

Range

of
Shares

Low

Weighted
Average

High

Remaining

Number

Average

Contractual
Term (years)

of
Shares

Exercise Price

56,786
49,504
29,171
15,001
60,000
110,000

$

9.00
12.48
13.92
22.62
0.72
1.16

$

9.00
12.48
17.10
30.24
0.72
1.16

$

9.00
12.48
14.74
24.03
0.72
1.16

6.3
4.8
3.7
4.8
8.9
9.1

56,786
49,504
29,171
15,001
60,000
-

$

9.00
12.48
14.74
24.03
0.72
-

320,462

$

0.72

$

30.24

$

6.52

7.2

210,462

$

9.32
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Common Stock Grants
In May 2018, the Company granted 485,168 unrestricted shares of stock to Company employees and accordingly recorded $596 thousand of stock-based
compensation expense. For the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, total stock-based compensation expense related to stock grants was $623
thousand and $289 thousand, respectively. As of September 30, 2018, there was no unrecognized expense related to common stock grants.
11. INCOME TAXES
The Company has estimated the applicable effective tax rate expected for the full fiscal year. The Company’s effective tax rate used to estimate income taxes on
a current year-to-date basis for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, and 2017, is 0% and 0%, respectively.
On December 27, 2017, as a result of a stock issuance (see Note 7) the gross deferred tax assets are subject to limitations under I.R.C. Section 382. The
Company still maintains a gross deferred tax asset position that is subject to a valuation allowance.
Deferred tax assets (“DTAs”) are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of
assets and liabilities and for operating losses and tax credit carry forwards. We review our DTAs and valuation allowance on a quarterly basis. As part of our
review, we consider positive and negative evidence, including cumulative results in recent years. Consistent with the position at December 31, 2017, the
Company maintains a full valuation allowance recorded against all DTAs. The Company therefore had no recorded DTAs as of September 30, 2018. We
anticipate that we will continue to record a valuation allowance against our DTAs until such time as we are able to determine that it is “more-likely-than-not” that
those DTAs will be realized.
The Company recognizes, measures, and discloses uncertain tax positions whereby tax positions must meet a “more-likely-than-not” threshold to be recognized.
During the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, no adjustments were recognized for uncertain tax positions.
The Company does not expect to pay any federal or state income taxes for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018.
12. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net earnings (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period.
Diluted earnings (loss) per share is similarly computed, except that the denominator includes the effect, using the treasury stock method, of stock options,
convertible preferred stock and warrants, if including such potential shares of common stock is dilutive.
The following table presents a reconciliation of the weighted-average diluted shares outstanding:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
Weighted average common shares outstanding-basic
Dilutive effect of:
Stock options
Weighted average common shares outstandingdiluted

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2017

2018

2017

13,234,709

5,834,568

12,697,206

5,834,568

20,400

-

-

-

13,255,109

5,834,568

12,967,206

5,834,568

We reported net losses for the three months ended September 30, 2017 and for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. As a result, our
basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding were the same for those periods because the effect of the common share equivalents was anti-dilutive.
The following table presents the weighted-average common share equivalents excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share due to their antidilutive effect:
Three Months Ended
September 30,
2018
Weighted average common shares equivalents
excluded from diluted earnings per share due to their
anti-dilutive effect:
Stock options
Unvested shares of common stock
Outstanding warrants
Series A convertible preferred stock
Total

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2017

300,062
1,000,000
793,349
2,093,411
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390,525
100,000
1,000,000
792,037
2,282,562

2018

320,462
1,000,000
793,349
2,113,811

2017

390,525
100,000
1,000,000
767,823
2,258,348

13. SIGNIFICANT CONCENTRATIONS
The Company has exposure to credit risk in the event of nonpayment by the joint interest operators of the Company’s oil and gas properties. For the nine
months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, approximately 80% and 73%, resprectively, of the Company’s oil and gas revenue are associated with properties
that are operated by three operators.
14. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. In determining fair value, the Company uses various methods including market, income and cost approaches. Based on these approaches,
the Company often utilizes certain assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risk and the risks
inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique. These inputs can be readily observable, market corroborated, or generally unobservable inputs. The Company
utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. Based on the observability of the inputs
used in the valuation techniques the Company is required to provide the following information according to the fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy
ranks the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value will be classified and disclosed
in one of the following six categories:
Level 1 - Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities traded in active exchange markets, such as the New York Stock Exchange or the Toronto Stock
Exchange.
Level 2 - Observable inputs other than Level 1 including quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in less active markets, or other observable
inputs that can be corroborated by observable market data. Level 2 also includes derivative contracts whose value is determined using a pricing model with
observable market inputs or can be derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data.
Level 3 - Unobservable inputs supported by little or no market activity for financial instruments whose value is determined using pricing models, discounted cash
flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or
estimation; also includes observable inputs for nonbinding single dealer quotes not corroborated by observable market data.
The Company has processes and controls in place to attempt to ensure that fair value is reasonably estimated. The Company performs due diligence
procedures over third-party pricing service providers in order to support their use in the valuation process. Where market information is not available to support
internal valuations, independent reviews of the valuations are performed, and any material exposures are evaluated through a management review process.
While the Company believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies or
assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date. The following is a
description of the valuation methodologies used for complex financial instruments measured at fair value:
Marketable Equity Securities Valuation Methodologies
The fair value of marketable securities is based on quoted market prices obtained from the Toronto Stock Exchange. Accordingly, the Company has classified
these instruments as Level 1.
Derivative Assets and Liabilities
Derivative assets and liabilities, at fair value, are included on our consolidated balance sheets as current or non-current assets or liabilities based on the
anticipated timing of cash settlements under the related contracts. Changes in the fair value of our commodity derivative contracts are recorded in other income
(expense) on our consolidated statements of operations. We estimate the fair values of swap contracts based on the present value of the difference in
exchange-quoted forward price curves and contractual settlement prices multiplied by notional quantities. Accordingly, the Company has classified these
instruments as Level 2.
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Warrant Valuation Methodologies
The warrants contain a dilutive issuance and other liability provisions which cause the warrants to be accounted for as a liability. Such warrant instruments are
initially recorded and valued as a level 3 liability and are accounted for at fair value with changes in fair value reported in earnings.
The Company estimated the value of the warrants issued in connection with the closing of its registered direct offering on December 21, 2016 to be $1,030,000,
or $1.03 per warrant, using the Monte Carlo model with the following assumptions: a term expiring June 21, 2022, exercise price of $2.05, stock price of $1.28,
average volatility rate of 90%, and a risk-free interest rate of 2.01%. The Company re-measured the warrants as of September 30, 2018, using the same Monte
Carlo model, using the following assumptions: a term expiring June 21, 2022, exercise price of $1.13, stock price of $1.02, average volatility rate of 90%, and a
risk-free interest rate of 2.90%. The “ratchet” anti-dilution provision in the warrants may result in the downward adjustment of the exercise price of the warrants.
If the Company issues common stock, options or common stock equivalents at a price less than the exercise price of the warrants, subject to certain customary
exceptions, the exercise price of the warrants is reduced to that lower price, however in no event will the exercise price be reduced below $0.392 per share. As
of September 30, 2018, the fair value of the warrants was $722 thousand, or $0.72 per warrant, and was recorded as a liability on the accompanying condensed
consolidated balance sheets. An increase in any of the variables would cause an increase in the fair value of the warrants. Likewise, a decrease in any variable
would cause a decrease in the value of the warrants.
Other Financial Instruments
The carrying amount of cash and equivalents, oil and gas sales receivable, other current assets and liabilities approximate fair value because of the short-term
nature of those instruments.
Recurring Fair Value Measurements
Recurring measurements of the fair value of assets and liabilities as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 are as follows:
September 30, 2018
Level 1
Marketable equity securities:
Sutter Gold Mining Company
Anfield Resources, Inc.
Total
Commodity price risk derivatives
Outstanding warrant liability
Total

$
$
$
$

Level 2

5
951
956

$

-

$

$

$

December 31, 2017

Level 3

37
37

$

Total

$

$

-

$

$

722
722

$

$

Level 1

5
951
956

$

37
722
759

Level 2

$

$

8
868
876
-

$

$

Level 3

-

$

161
161

$

$

Total

$

$

-

$

$

1,200
1,200

$

$

8
868
876
161
1,200
1,361

The following table presents a reconciliation of changes in liabilities measured at Level 3 fair value on a recurring basis for the period ended September 30, 2018
and the year ended December 31, 2017.
Liabilities
Warrants
(Level 3)

2018

Fair value, beginning of period

$

Total net losses included in:
Other comprehensive loss
Fair value adjustments included in net loss:
Net fair value adjustment
Fair value, end of period

2017
1,200

$

-

$

(478)
722 $

1,030

170
1,200

15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In October 2018, the Company paid $0.9 million for its 30% working interest share in the drilling costs of the J. Beeler No. 1 well in Zavala County, Texas. The
Company funded its portion of the well with existing cash on hand. The J. Beeler No. 1 well was spud on October 24, 2018 and is the second well to be drilled
within the Company’s South Texas acreage position covering Dimmit and Zavala Counties.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Forward Looking Statements
This Form 10-Q and other publicly available documents, including the documents incorporated herein and therein by reference contain “forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange Act”). All statements other than statements of historical fact included in and incorporated by reference into this Form 10-Q are forward-looking
statements. When used in this Form 10-Q, the words “will”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “plan”, “believe”, “seek”, “estimate”, “goal”, “project”, “strategy”,
“future”, “likely”, “may”, “should”, and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain
these identifying words. Forward-looking statements in this Form 10-Q include statements regarding our expected future revenue, income, production, liquidity,
cash flows, reclamation and other liabilities, expenses and capital projects, future capital expenditures, current or future volatility in the credit markets and future
credit markets, and future transactions. Because these forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, actual results could differ materially from those
expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements due to a variety of factors, including those associated with our ability to find oil and natural gas
reserves that are economically recoverable, the volatility of oil, NGL and natural gas prices, declines in the values of our properties that have resulted in and may
in the future result in additional ceiling test write downs, our ability to replace reserves and sustain production, our estimate of the sufficiency of our existing
capital sources, our ability to raise additional capital to fund cash requirements for our participation in oil and gas properties and for future acquisitions, the
uncertainties involved in estimating quantities of proved oil and natural gas reserves, in prospect development and property acquisitions or dispositions and in
projecting future rates of production or future reserves, the timing of development expenditures and drilling of wells, hurricanes and other natural disasters and
the operating hazards attendant to the oil and gas and minerals businesses. In particular, careful consideration should be given to cautionary statements made
in the “Risk Factors” section of our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K and other quarterly reports on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC, all of which are incorporated
herein by reference. The Company undertakes no duty to update or revise any forward-looking statements.
General Overview
We are an independent energy company focused on the lease acquisition and development of oil and gas producing properties in the continental United States.
Our business is currently focused in South Texas and the Williston Basin in North Dakota. However, we do not intend to limit our focus to these geographic
areas. We continue to focus on increasing production, reserves, revenues and cash flow from operations while managing our level of debt.
We currently explore for and produce oil and gas through a non-operator business model; however, we may operate oil and gas properties for our own account
and may expand our holdings or operations into other areas. As a non-operator, we rely on our operating partners to propose, permit and manage wells. Before
a well is drilled, the operator is required to provide all oil and gas interest owners in the designated well the opportunity to participate in the drilling costs and
revenues of the well on a pro-rata basis. After the well is completed, our operating partners also transport, market and account for all production. As discussed in
Item 1. Organization and Operations, our long-term strategic focus is to develop operational capabilities through the pursuit of opportunities to acquire operated
properties and/or operatorship of existing properties.
Recent Developments
In October 2018, the Company paid $0.9 million for its 30% working interest share in the drilling costs of the J. Beeler No. 1 well in Zavala County, Texas. The
Company funded its portion of the well with existing cash on hand. The J. Beeler No. 1 well was spud on October 24, 2018 and is the second well to be drilled
within the Company’s South Texas acreage position covering Dimmit and Zavala Counties.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity U.S. GAAP requires us to make assumptions and estimates that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions. A summary of our significant accounting policies is detailed in Note 7 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Conditions and Results of Operations in Item 2 of our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 28, 2018.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
Please refer to the section entitled Recent Accounting Pronouncements under Note 1 – Organization, Operations and Significant Accounting Policies in the
Notes to the Financial Statements included in Item 1 of this report for additional information on recently issued accounting standards and our plans for adoption
of those standards.
Results of Operations
Comparison of our Statements of Operations for the Three Months Ended September 30, 2018 and 2017
During the three months ended September 30, 2018, we recorded a net income of $467 thousand as compared to a net loss of $382 thousand for the three
months ended September 30, 2017. In the following sections we discuss our revenue, operating expenses, and non-operating income for the three months
ended September 30, 2018 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2017.
Revenue. Presented below is a comparison of our oil and gas revenues, production quantities and average sales prices for the three months ended September
30, 2018 and 2017 (dollars in thousands, except average sales prices):
Change
2018

2017

Amount

Percent

Revenue:
Oil
Gas

$

1,120
102

$

1,311
227

$

(191)
(125)

-15%
-55%

Total

$

1,222

$

1,538

$

(316)

-21%

(13,806)
(46,197)
(21,506)

-46%
-61%
-50%

25.46
0.46
21.77

58%
15%
60%

Production quantities:
Oil (Bbls)
Gas (Mcfe)
BOE
Average sales prices:
Oil (Bbls)
Gas (Mcfe)
BOE

16,194
29,623
21,131

$

69.16
3.45
57.84

30,000
75,820
42,637

$
$
$

43.69
2.99
36.06

$

The decrease in our oil revenue of $191 thousand for the three months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the three months ended September 30,
2017 was primarily attributable to the October 2017 asset divestiture combined with normal production declines experienced from existing producing wells.
These factors offset a 58% increase in the average oil sales price received for the three months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the three months
ended September 30, 2017. The decrease in our gas sales of $125 thousand for the three months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the three months
ended September 30, 2017 was primarily driven by maintenance-related downtime on a specific producing gas well located in Louisiana in which the Company
holds a significant working interest combined with normal production declines experienced from existing producing wells. These factors offset a 15% increase in
the average natural gas price received.
-18-

For the three months ended September 30, 2018, we produced 21,131 BOE, or an average of 230 BOE per day, as compared to 42,637 BOE or 463 BOE per
day during the comparable period in 2017. This reduction was mainly attributable to the October 2017 asset divestiture, maintenance-related downtime on a
specific gas producing well located in Louisiana, and normal production declines from existing producing wells.
Oil and Gas Production Costs . Presented below is a comparison of our oil and gas production costs for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017
(dollars in thousands):
Change
2018
Production taxes
Lease operating expenses
Total
Per Boe

2017

Amount

Percent

$

96
357

$

113
743

$

(17)
(386)

-15%
-52%

$
$

453
21.44

$
$

856
20.08

$
$

(403)
1.36

-47%
7%

For the three months ended September 30, 2018, production taxes decreased by $17 thousand compared to the comparable period in 2017. This decrease in
production taxes and other expenses was primarily attributable to the October 2017 asset divestiture combined with lower production volumes. During the three
months ended September 30, 2018, lease operating expenses decreased by $386 thousand when compared to the three months ended September 30, 2017.
The decrease was primarily attributable to the October 2017 asset divestiture. Total oil and gas production costs per BOE increased 7% for the three months
ended September 30, 2018 to the comparable period in 2017. This increase was primarily attributed to lower production due to maintenance-related downtime
on our gas well in Louisiana.
Depreciation, depletion and amortization. Our DD&A rate for the three months ended September 30, 2018 was $3.53 per BOE compared to $3.23 per BOE for
the three months ended September 30, 2017. Our DD&A rate can fluctuate as a result of changes in drilling and completion costs, impairments, divestitures,
changes in the mix of our production, the underlying proved reserve volumes and estimated costs to drill and complete proved undeveloped reserves. The
increase from comparable 2017 levels is primarily attributable to a decrease in reserves as a result of our October 2017 divestiture combined with an increase in
oil prices throughout the three months ended September 30, 2018.
Impairment of oil and gas properties. During the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, we recorded no impairment charges related to our oil and
gas properties due to the net capitalized costs being below the full cost ceiling limitation. Presented below are the weighted average prices (in each case
adjusted for transportation, quality, and basis differentials applicable to our properties on a weighted average basis) used to prepare our reserve estimates and to
calculate our full cost ceiling limitations for each of the last five calendar quarters:
Average Price (1)

Third quarter of 2017
Fourth quarter of 2017
First quarter of 2018
Second quarter of 2018
Third quarter of 2018
(1)

Oil

Gas

(Bbl)

(MMbtu)
43.89
47.01
50.27
53.86
59.78

2.92
2.98
3.93
2.83
2.83

Represents the trailing 12-month average for benchmark oil and gas prices ending in the last month of the calendar quarter shown less Company
differential.

Our quarterly reserve reports are prepared based on a trailing 12-month average for benchmark oil and gas prices.
-19-

General and Administrative Expenses. Presented below is a comparison of our general and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30,
2018 and 2017 (dollars in thousands):
Change
2018
Compensation and benefits, including directors
Stock-based compensation
Professional fees
Insurance, rent and other
Total

2017

Amount

Percent

$

222
13
286
100

$

190
77
268
64

$

32
(64)
18
36

$

621

$

599

$

22

17%
-83%
7%
56%
4%

General and administrative expenses were $621 thousand for the three months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to $599 thousand during the same
period of 2017. The increase was primarily attributable to a $36 thousand increase in insurance, rent and other, an $18 thousand increase in professional fees
associated with evaluation of prospective wells and an increase of $32 thousand in compensation expense. These were offset by a $64 thousand decrease in
stock-based compensation expense.
Non-Operating Income (Expense). Presented below is a comparison of our non-operating income (expense) for the three months ended September 30, 2018
and 2017 (dollars in thousands):
Change
2018
(Loss) gain on commodity derivative contracts
Rental and other expense, net
Warrant fair value adjustment
Interest expense
Change in fair value of marketable securities
Total other income (expense)

$

$

2017
(14)
(53)
288
(24)
203
400

$

$

Amount
(166)
53
(70)
(136)
(319)

$

$

Percent
152
(106)
358
112
203
719

-91%
-2%
511%
-82%
100 %
-225%

During the three months ending September 30, 2018, the Company had a loss on oil price derivatives of $14 thousand . During the three months ending
September 30, 2017, the Company had a loss on oil derivative contracts outstanding of $166 thousand. Unrealized gains or losses result from changes in the
fair value of the unsettled derivative contracts as commodity futures prices increase or decrease.
During the three months ending September 30, 2018, the Company had an unrealized gain on marketable securities of $203 thousand. On January 1, 2018, the
Company adopted ASU 2016-01 requiring unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities to be recognized on the consolidated statement of operations.
For the three months ended September 30, 2017, unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities was recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as a
component of equity under “Other comprehensive loss.”
During the three months ending September 30, 2018, the Company realized a warrant revaluation gain of $288 thousand as compared to a loss of $70
thousand during the three months ending September 30, 2017. The increase was attributable to a decrease in the warrant liability primarily as a result of a
decline in the per share market value of the Company’s common stock. Our warrant liability is accounted for using the mark-to-market accounting method
whereby gains and losses from changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are recognized immediately into earnings. We will continue to revalue our
outstanding warrants on a quarterly basis.
Interest expense decreased by $112 thousand during the three months ended September 30, 2018 compared to the comparable period in 2017. The decrease
was attributable to the reduction in the principle balance of our credit facility. The average interest rate was 8.75% for the three months ended September 30,
2018 and 2017.
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Comparison of our Statements of Operations for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 and 2017
During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we recorded a net loss of $950 thousand as compared to net loss of $787 thousand for the nine months
ended September 30, 2017. In the following sections we discuss our revenue, operating expenses, and non-operating income for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2017.
Revenue. Presented below is a comparison of our oil and gas revenues, production quantities and average sales prices for the nine months ended September
30, 2018 and 2017 (dollars in thousands, except average sales prices):
Change
2018

2017

Amount

Percent

Revenue:
Oil
Gas

$

3,642
708

$

4,141
1,135

$

(499)
(427)

-12%
-38%

Total

$

4,350

$

5,276

$

(926)

-18%

(38,219)
(155,772)
(56,285)

-40%
-46%
-37%

20.53
0.56
11.01

47%
17%
31%

Production quantities:
Oil (Bbls)
Gas (Mcfe)
BOE
Average sales prices:
Oil (Bbls)
Gas (Mcfe)
BOE

56,820
179,330
94,605

$
$
$

64.10
3.95
45.98

95,039
335,102
150,890

$
$
$

43.57
3.39
34.97

$
$
$

The decrease in our oil revenue of $499 thousand for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2017
was primarily attributable to the October 2017 asset divestiture combined with normal production declines experienced from existing producing wells. These
factors offset a 47% increase in the average oil sales price received for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2017. The decrease in our gas sales of $427 thousand for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2017 was primarily driven by maintenance-related downtime on a specific producing gas well located in Louisiana in which the Company holds a
significant working interest combined with normal production declines experienced from existing producing wells. These factors offset a 17% increase in the
average natural gas price received.
For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we produced 94,605 BOE, or an average of 347 BOE per day, as compared to 150,890 BOE or 553 BOE per
day during the comparable period in 2017. This reduction was mainly attributable to the October 2017 asset divestiture combined with normal production
declines.
Oil and Gas Production Costs . Presented below is a comparison of our oil and gas production costs for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017
(dollars in thousands):
Change
2018
Production taxes
Lease operating expenses
Total
Per Boe

2017

Amount

Percent

$

316
1,431

$

396
2,316

$

(82)
(883)

-21%
-38%

$
$

1,747
18.47

$
$

2,712
17.97

$
$

(965)
0.50

-36%
3%
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For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, production taxes decreased by $82 thousand compared to the comparable period in 2017. This decrease in
production taxes and other expenses was primarily attributable to the October 2017 asset divestiture combined with lower production volumes. During the nine
months ended September 30, 2018, lease operating expenses decreased by $883 thousand when compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2017.
The decrease was primarily attributable to the October 2017 asset divestiture combined with lower production volumes. Total oil and gas production costs per
BOE increased 3% for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 to the comparable period in 2017. This increase was primarily attributed to increased
workover activity on our properties.
Depreciation, depletion and amortization. Our DD&A rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was $3.66 per BOE compared to $3.93 per BOE for
the nine months ended September 30, 2017. Our DD&A rate can fluctuate as a result of changes in drilling and completion costs, impairments, divestitures,
changes in the mix of our production, the underlying proved reserve volumes and estimated costs to drill and complete proved undeveloped reserves. The
primary factor that resulted in a reduction in our DD&A rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was the October 2017 asset divestiture and the
corresponding reduction to the Company’s full cost pool.
Impairment of oil and gas properties. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, we recorded no impairment charges related to our oil and
gas properties due to the net capitalized costs being below the full cost ceiling limitation.
General and Administrative Expenses. Presented below is a comparison of our general and administrative expenses for the nine months ended September 30,
2018 and 2017 (dollars in thousands):
Change
2018
Compensation and benefits, including directors
Stock-based compensation
Professional fees
Insurance, rent and other
Total

2017

Amount

Percent

$

1,548
623
855
328

$

544
289
1,618
301

$

1,004
334
(763)
27

$

3,354

$

2,752

$

602

185%
116%
-47%
9%
22%

General and administrative expenses were $3.4 million during the first nine months of 2018 as compared to $2.8 million during the first nine months of 2017.
The increase was primarily attributable to a $1.0 million increase in employee compensation and related expenses combined with a $334 thousand increase in
stock-based compensation expense. The increase was partially offset by a $763 thousand reduction in professional fees primarily due to litigation that has been
resolved and the hiring of employees that have been historically employed on a contract basis.
Non-Operating Income (Expense). Presented below is a comparison of our non-operating income (expense) for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and
2017 (dollars in thousands):
Change
2018
(Loss) gain on commodity derivative contracts
Gain on sale of assets
Rental and other expense, net
Warrant fair value adjustment
Interest expense
Change in fair value of marketable securities
Total other income (expense)

$

$

2017
(225)
(84)
478
(83)
80
166
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$

$

Amount
246
1
(296)
450
(382)
19

$

$

Percent
(471)
(1)
212
28
299
80
147

-191%
NA
72%
6%
78%
NA
774%

During the nine months ending September 30, 2018, the Company had a loss on oil price derivatives of $225 thousand due to the increase in commodity prices.
During the nine months ending September 30, 2017, the Company had a gain on oil derivative contracts outstanding of $246 thousand. Unrealized gains or
losses result from changes in the fair value of the derivatives as commodity prices increase or decrease and are recognized in the month when derivative
contracts are settled in cash through the recognition of a realized gain. Similarly, unrealized gains are also recognized in the month when derivative contracts
are settled in cash through the recognition of a realized loss.
During the nine months ending September 30, 2018, the Company had an unrealized gain on marketable securities of $80 thousand. On January 1, 2018, the
Company adopted ASU 2016-01, which requires the recognition of unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities on the consolidated statement of
operations. As of September 30, 2017, unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities were recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as a component
of stockholders’ equity under “Other comprehensive loss.”
During the nine months ending September 30, 2018, we realized a warrant revaluation gain of $478 thousand as compared to a gain of $450 thousand during
the nine months ending September 30, 2017. Our warrant liability is accounted for using the mark-to-market accounting method whereby gains and losses from
changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are recognized immediately into earnings. We will continue to revalue our outstanding warrants on a quarterly
basis.
Interest expense decreased by $299 thousand during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 compared to the comparable period in 2017. The decrease
was attributable to the reduction in the principle balance of our credit facility. The average interest rate was 8.75% for the nine months ended September 30,
2018 and 7.68% for the nine months ended September 30, 2017.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following table sets forth certain measures of our liquidity as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017:
September 30, 2018
2,993
3,639
15,242
937
6,000
9,797

December 31, 2017
(restated)
$
3,277
4,336
15,316
1,537
6,000
8,662

Current ratio (2)

3.1 to 1.0

3.7 to 1.0

Debt to equity ratio (restated)(3)

0.1 to 1.0

0.2 to 1.0

Cash and equivalents
Working capital (1)
Total assets
Outstanding debt under Credit Facility
Borrowing base under Credit Facility
Total shareholders’ equity

$

Change
$

(284)
(697)
(74)
(600)
1,135

Select Ratios

(1)
(2)
(3)

Working capital deficit is computed by subtracting total current liabilities from total current assets.
The current ratio is computed by dividing total current assets by total current liabilities.
The debt to equity ratio is computed by dividing total debt by total shareholders’ equity. The ratio at December 31, 2017, has been restated for the
reclassification of the Preferred Stock to temporary equity

As of September 30, 2018, we have working capital of $3.6 million compared to working capital of $4.3 million as of December 31, 2017, a decrease of $697
thousand.
Our sole source of debt financing is a revolving Credit Facility with APEG. The borrowing base has been held constant at $6.0 million as of September 30, 2018
and December 31, 2017. Outstanding borrowings as of September 30, 2018 were $0.9 million with borrowing availability of $5.1 million as of September 30,
2018. As of September 30, 2018, and December 31, 2017, we were in compliance will all financial covenants associated with the Credit Facility.
On January 5, 2018, we entered into a common stock sales agreement with a financial institution pursuant to which we may offer and sell, through the sales
agent, common stock representing an aggregate offering price of up to $2.5 million through an at-the-market continuous offering program. During the three
months ended September 30, 2018, we issued an aggregate of 357,680 of common stock at an average price of $1.52 per share for total proceeds of
approximately $0.5 million. As of September 30, 2018, we had issued 1,288,537 shares of common stock at an average price of $1.41 per share for total net
proceeds after offering expenses of approximately $1.8 million.
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As of September 30, 2018, we had cash and cash equivalents of $3.0 million, and we expect to continue maintaining cash balances in this range. We expect
potential investors and capital providers will find our singular industry focus, combined with our legacy portfolio of producing properties and low-cost overhead
structure, to be a viable long-term strategy as the Company focuses on developing its existing asset base and executing on accretive transactions. However,
there can be no assurance that we will be able to complete future transactions on acceptable terms or at all.
If we have unanticipated needs for financing in 2018 and 2019, alternatives that we will consider if necessary include selling or joint venturing an interest in some
of our oil and gas assets, selling our real estate assets in Wyoming, selling our marketable equity securities, issuing shares of our common stock for cash or as
consideration for acquisitions, and other alternatives, as we determine how to best fund our capital programs and meet our financial obligations. Our capital
expenditure plan and our ability to obtain sufficient funding to make anticipated capital expenditures and satisfy our financial obligations are subject to numerous
risks and uncertainties, including those discussed in Risk Factors in our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 28, 2018.
Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):
2018
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

$

2017

(928)
(218)
862

$

Change

(706)
2
-

$

(222)
(220)
862

Operating Activities. Cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was $928 thousand as compared to cash used by
operated activities of $706 thousand for the comparable period in 2017. The increase of cash used in operating activities is primarily attributed to a $926
thousand decrease in revenues as a result of production declines, which were partially offset by a reduction in operating expenses of $616 thousand.
Investing Activities. Cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was $218 thousand as compared to cash provided of $2
thousand for the comparable period in 2017. The primary use of cash in our investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was funding
capital expenditures and evaluation of prospects.
Financing Activities. Cash generated by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was $862 thousand as compared to nil for the
comparable period in 2017. The increase during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was primarily attributable to $1.7 million in net proceeds from the
at-the-market offering program offset by a $600 thousand debt reduction payment and $204 thousand expense to repurchase employee shares to fulfill income
tax requirements.
Off-balance Sheet Arrangements
As part of our ongoing business, we have not participated in transactions that generate relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such
as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities (“SPEs”), which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating offbalance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.
We evaluate our transactions to determine if any variable interest entities exist. If it is determined that we are the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity,
that entity will be consolidated in our consolidated financial statements. We have not been involved in any unconsolidated SPE transactions during the periods
covered by this report.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information under this Item.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Based on an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), as of the end of our
quarter ended September 30, 2018, our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer determined that our controls were not adequate due to a lack of
segregation of duties caused by limited accounting staff and resources which has impacted our ability to prevent or detect material errors in the financial
statements including the implementation of new accounting standards. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company’s annual or interim financial statements will not
be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Accordingly, based on this material weakness, our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, September 30, 2018
as it relates to the timely implementation of the Company’s review of key controls.
The Company is addressing this weakness by increasing its accounting staff with professionals with experience in the industry and the requisite skill levels to
address these weaknesses.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
During the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2018, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected or
are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
Not applicable.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information under this Item.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
None
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
Not applicable.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information.
Not applicable.
Item 6. Exhibits
2.1**
3.1**
3.2**
3.3**
3.4**
4.1**
4.2**
10.1(a)**
10.1(b)**
10.1(c)**
10.1(d)**
10.1(e)**
10.1(f)**
10.1(g)**

Mt. Emmons Mining Company Acquisition Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed
February 12, 2016)
Restated Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3, [333162607] filed October 21, 2009)
Restated Bylaws, dated as of April 27, 2017 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed May 19, 2017)
Certificate of Designation for Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form
8-K filed February 12, 2016)
Articles of Amendment to Restated Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed
June 21, 2016)
Common Stock Purchase Warrant (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Report on Form 8-K filed December 22,
2016)
Standstill Agreement, dated September 28, 2017, by and between U.S. Energy Corp. and APEG Energy II, L.P. (incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed October 5, 2017)
BNP Paribas– Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed August 2, 2010)
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association – Second Amendment to Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Form 8-K filed July 25, 2013)
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association – Third Amendment to Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Form 8-K filed July 16, 2015)
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association – Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed August 15, 2016)
APEG Energy II, L.P. – Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed
July 3, 2017)
BNP Paribas – Mortgage Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed August 2, 2010)
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association – Guaranty (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed August 2,
2010)
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10.2*
10.3**
10.4**
10.5*
31.1*
31.2*
32.1*♦
32.2*♦
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Amended and Restated 2012 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan
Exchange Agreement, dated September 28, 2017, by and among U.S. Energy Corp., Energy One LLC, and APEG Energy II, L.P.
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed October 5, 2017)
Form of Common Stock Sales Agreement by and between U.S. Energy Corp. and Northland Securities Inc., dated January 5, 2018
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 1.1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed January 5, 2018)
Standard Office Lease, dated August 18, 2017, by and between U.S. Energy Corp. and 950 Cherry, LLC.
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes – Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of principal financial officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes – Oxley Act of 2002
Certification under Rule 13a-14(b) of Chief Executive Officer
Certification under Rule 13a-14(b) of Chief Financial Officer
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Schema Document
XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document

* Filed herewith.
** Previously Filed
† Exhibit constitutes a management contract or compensatory plan or agreement.
♦ In accordance with SEC Release 33-8238, Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 are being furnished and not filed.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
U.S. ENERGY CORP. (Registrant)
Date: November 13, 2018

By: /s/ David A. Veltri
DAVID A. VELTRI, Chief Executive Officer
U.S. ENERGY CORP. (Registrant)

Date: November 13, 2018

By: /s/ Ryan L. Smith
RYAN L. SMITH, Chief Financial Officer
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EX-10.2 3 ex10-2.htm
U.S. Energy Corp.
Amended and Restated 2012 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan
Adopted By the Board: April 24, 2010, March 20, 2015, April 27, 2017 April 24, 2018
Approved by the Shareholders: June 29, 2012 June 19, 2015, July 17, 2017 September 11, 2018
Effective: July 1, 2012 2015 July 17, 2017 September 11, 2018
1. Purpose. The purpose of the 2012 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan is to attract and retain officers and other employees of U.S. Energy Corp., a
Wyoming corporation, and its Subsidiaries and to provide to such persons incentives and rewards for superior performance.
2. Definitions. As used in this Plan,
(a) “Award” means any Option, Stock Appreciation Right, Restricted Stock, Performance Share, Performance Unit, Other Share-Based Award, or any
other right, interest or option related to Shares or other property (including cash) granted pursuant to the provisions of this Plan.
(b) “Base Price” means the price to be used as the basis for determining the Spread upon the exercise of a Free-Standing Appreciation Right and a
Tandem Appreciation Right.
(c) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company and, to the extent of any delegation by the Board to a committee (or subcommittee thereof)
pursuant to Section 14 of this Plan, such committee (or subcommittee).
(d) “Change in Control” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.
(e) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, and the rules and regulations thereunder, as such law, rules and
regulations may be amended from time to time.
(f) “Common Stock” means the Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company or any security into which such Common Stock may be
changed by reason of any transaction or event of the type referred to in Section 13 of this Plan.
(g) “Company” means U.S. Energy Corp., a Wyoming corporation, and its successors.
(h) “Date of Grant” means the date specified by the Board on which a grant of Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Performance Shares, Performance
Units or other awards contemplated by Section 9 of this Plan, or a grant or sale of Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, or other awards contemplated by
Section 9 of this Plan, will become effective (which date will not be earlier than the date on which the Board takes action with respect thereto).
(i) “Director” means a member of the Board of Directors of the Company.
(j) “Effective Date” means July 1, 2012. As amended, the Effective Date shall be the later of (1) July 1, 2015, or (2) the date that shareholder approval
is obtained for the Amended and Restated 2012 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan.
(k) “Eligible Individual” means an officer, employee, Director, or contractor of the Company or any one or more of its Subsidiaries.

(l) “Evidence of Award” means an agreement, certificate, resolution or other type or form of writing or other evidence approved by the Board that sets
forth the terms and conditions of the Awards granted. An Evidence of Award may be in an electronic medium, may be limited to notation on the books and
records of the Company and, unless otherwise determined by the Board, need not be signed by a representative of the Company or a Participant.
(m) “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder, as such law, rules and
regulations may be amended from time to time.
(n) “Free-Standing Appreciation Right” means a Stock Appreciation Right granted pursuant to Section 5 of this Plan that is not granted in tandem with
an Option.
(o) “Incentive Stock Options” means Options that are intended to qualify as “incentive stock options” under Section 422 of the Code or any successor
provision.
(p) “Management Objectives” means the measurable performance objective or objectives established pursuant to this Plan for Participants who have
received grants of Performance Shares or Performance Units or, when so determined by the Board, Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock,
Restricted Stock Units, dividend credits or other awards pursuant to this Plan. Management Objectives may be described in terms of Company-wide objectives
or objectives that are related to the performance of the individual Participant or of the Subsidiary, division, department, region or function within the Company or
Subsidiary in which the Participant is employed. The Management Objectives may be made relative to the performance of one or more other companies or
subsidiaries, divisions, departments, regions or functions within such other companies, and may be made relative to an index of one or more of the performance
objectives themselves.
If the Board determines that a change in the business, operations, corporate structure or capital structure of the Company, or the manner in which it
conducts its business, or other events or circumstances render the Management Objectives unsuitable, the Board may in its discretion modify such
Management Objectives or the related level or levels of achievement, in whole or in part, as the Board deems appropriate and equitable.
(q) “Market Value per Share” means, as of any particular date, the closing sale price of a share of Common Stock as reported on the principal national
securities exchange on which the Common Stock is listed. If the Common Stock is not traded on a given date, the Market Value per Share means the closing
price for a share of Common Stock on the principal national securities exchange on which the Common Stock is traded for the immediately preceding date on
which the Common Stock is traded. If the Common Stock is not listed on a national securities exchange, the Market Value per Share shall be the fair market
value of a share of Common Stock as determined in good faith by the Board in accordance with the fair market value pricing rules set forth in Section 409A of
the Code.
(r) “Optionee” means the Eligible Individual named in an Evidence of Award evidencing an outstanding Option.
(s) “Option Price” means the purchase price per Share payable on exercise of an Option.

(t) “Option” means an option to purchase Common Stock granted pursuant to Section 4 of this Plan.
(u) “Participant” means an Eligible Individual who has received an Award under this Plan.
(v) “Performance Period” means, in respect of a Performance Share or Performance Unit, a period of time established pursuant to Section 8 of this
Plan within which the Management Objectives relating to such Performance Share or Performance Unit are to be measured.
(w) “Performance Share” means a bookkeeping entry that records the equivalent of one share of Common Stock awarded pursuant to Section 8 of this
Plan.
(x) “Performance Unit” means a bookkeeping entry awarded pursuant to Section 8 of this Plan that records a unit equivalent to $1.00 or such other
value as is determined by the Board.
(y) “Plan” means this U.S. Energy Corp. 2012 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan, as may be amended from time to time.
(z) “Restricted Stock” means Common Stock granted or sold pursuant to Section 6 of this Plan as to which the applicable Restriction Period has not
yet lapsed.
(aa) “Restriction Period” means the period of time during which Restricted Stock is subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture or Restricted Stock Units
are subject to restrictions, as provided in Section 6 and Section 7 of this Plan.
(bb) “Restricted Stock Unit” means an award made pursuant to Section 7 of this Plan of the right to receive Common Stock or cash at the end of a
specified period.
(cc) “Share” means one share of Common Stock.
(dd) “Spread” means, on any applicable measurement date, the excess of the Market Value per Share over the Option Price or Base Price provided
for in an Option or Stock Appreciation Right, respectively.
(ee) “Separation from Service” means a Participant’s Termination of Employment with the Company and any of its Subsidiaries or affiliates that
qualifies as a “separation from service” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code. A Separation from Service will be deemed to occur where the Participant and
the Company, its Subsidiary or affiliate, reasonably anticipate that the bona fide level of services the Participant will perform (whether as an employee or as an
independent contractor) will be permanently reduced to a level that is less than thirty-seven and a half percent (37.5%) of the average level of bona fide services
the Participant performed during the immediately preceding 36 months (or the entire period the Participant has provided services if the Participant has been
providing services to the Company and any of its Subsidiaries or affiliates for less than 36 months).

(ff) “Stock Appreciation Right” means a right granted pursuant to Section 5 of this Plan, and includes both Tandem Appreciation Rights and FreeStanding Appreciation Rights.
(gg) “Subsidiary” means a corporation, company or other entity (i) more than 50 percent of whose outstanding shares or securities (representing the
right to vote for the election of directors or other managing authority) are, or (ii) which does not have outstanding shares or securities (as may be the case in a
partnership, joint venture or unincorporated association), but more than 50 percent of whose ownership interest representing the right generally to make
decisions for such other entity is, now or hereafter, owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by the Company except that for purposes of determining whether
any person may be a Participant for purposes of any grant of Incentive Stock Options, “Subsidiary” means any corporation in which at the time the Company
owns or controls, directly or indirectly, more than 50 percent of the total combined voting power represented by all classes of stock issued by such corporation.
(hh) “Tandem Appreciation Right” means a Stock Appreciation Right granted pursuant to Section 5 of this Plan that is granted in tandem with an
Option.
(ii) “Termination of Employment” means the termination of a Participant’s employment with, or performance of services for, the Company and any of its
Subsidiaries or affiliates. Unless otherwise determined by the Board, if a Participant’s employment with the Company and its affiliates terminates but such
Participant continues to provide services to the Company and its affiliates in a non-employee capacity, such change in status shall not be deemed a Termination
of Employment. A Participant shall be deemed to incur a Termination of Employment in the event of the disaffiliation of such Participant’s subsidiary, affiliate, or
division unless the Board specifies otherwise. Temporary absences from employment because of illness, vacation or leave of absence and transfers among the
Company and its Subsidiaries and affiliates do not constitute a Termination of Employment. If an Award is subject to Section 409A of the Code, however,
Termination of Employment for purposes of that Award shall mean the Participant’s Separation from Service.
3. Shares Available Under the Plan.
(a) Maximum Shares Available Under Plan.
(i) Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 13 of this Plan, a maximum of 1,981,008 shares of Common Stock may be delivered pursuant
to Awards granted under this Plan.
(ii) Shares of Common Stock covered by an Award shall not be counted as used unless and until they are actually issued to a Participant and,
therefore, the total number of shares of Common Stock available under the Plan as of a given date shall not be reduced by any Common
Stock relating to prior Awards that have expired or have been forfeited or cancelled. If the Award is to be settled in cash, the number of
shares of Common Stock on which the Award is based shall not count toward the share limits set forth in this Section 3. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained herein: (A) if shares of Common Stock are tendered or otherwise used in payment of the Option Price of
an Option or the Base Price of a Stock Appreciation Right, the total number of shares of Common Stock covered by the Option or Stock
Appreciation Right being exercised shall count against the aggregate Plan limit described above and (B) shares of Common Stock withheld
by the Company to satisfy the tax withholding obligation shall count against the aggregate Plan limit described above.

(b) Limitations on Grants to Individual Participant.
(i) Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 13 of this Plan, the maximum number of shares with respect to which Awards may be granted
hereunder to any Participant or Director during any fiscal year of the Company shall be 800,000 (the “Limitation”). If an Option is canceled,
the canceled Option shall continue to be counted toward the Limitation for the year granted. An Option (or a Stock Appreciation Right) that is
repriced during any fiscal year is treated as the cancellation of the Option (or Stock Appreciation Right) and grant of new Option (or Stock
Appreciation Right) for purposes of the Limitation for that fiscal year.
4. Options. The Board may, from time to time and upon such terms and conditions as it may determine, grant to Eligible Individuals options to purchase
Common Stock. Each grant of Options will be evidenced by an Evidence of Award which shall contain such terms and conditions as the Board may approve that
are not inconsistent with the following terms and conditions and those of the remainder of the Plan:
(a) Each Evidence of Award will specify the number of shares of Common Stock to which it pertains subject to the limitations set forth in Section 3 of
this Plan.
(b) Each Evidence of Award will specify an Option Price per share, which may not be less than the Market Value per Share on the Date of Grant (or
110% of the Market Value Per Share in the case of an Incentive Stock Option issued to the owner of 10% or more of the voting power of the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries).
(c) Each Evidence of Award will specify whether the Option Price will be payable, to the extent permitted by applicable statutes and regulations, either
(a) in cash or by certified or bank check at the time the Option is exercised or (b) in the discretion of the Committee, in any form of lawful consideration approved
by the Committee. As of the Effective Date (and subject to any future action by the Committee to restrict the forms of consideration that may be used to pay the
Option Price) the Committee has approved the following:: (i) by delivery to the Company of other Common Stock, duly endorsed for transfer to the Company,
with a Market Value per Share on the date of delivery equal to the Option Price (or portion thereof) due for the number of Shares being acquired, or by means of
attestation whereby the Participant identifies for delivery specific shares of Common Stock that have an aggregate Market Value per Share on the date of
attestation equal to the Option Price (or portion thereof) and receives a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the difference between the number of
shares thereby purchased and the number of identified attestation shares of Common Stock; (ii) a “cashless” exercise program established with a broker; (iii)
reduction in the number of shares of Common Stock otherwise deliverable upon exercise of such Option with a Market Value per Share equal to the aggregate
Option Price at the time of exercise; (iv) any combination of the foregoing methods; or (v) any other form of legal consideration that may be acceptable to the
Committee including but not limited to “net” or “immaculate” exercise. Unless otherwise specifically provided in the Evidence of Award, the exercise price of
Common Stock acquired pursuant to an Option that is paid by delivery (or attestation) to the Company of other Common Stock acquired, directly or indirectly
from the Company, shall be paid only by shares of Common Stock of the Company that have been held for more than six months (or such longer or shorter
period of time required to avoid a charge to earnings for financial accounting purposes). Notwithstanding the foregoing, during any period for which the Common
Stock is publicly traded (i.e., the Common Stock is listed on any established stock exchange or a national market system) an exercise by a Director or officer that
involves or may involve a direct or indirect extension of credit or arrangement of an extension of credit by the Company, directly or indirectly, in violation of
Section 402(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 shall be prohibited with respect to any Award under this Plan.

(d) Successive grants may be made to the same Participant whether or not any Options previously granted to such Participant remain unexercised.
(e) Each Evidence of Award will specify the period or periods of continuous service by the Optionee with the Company or any Subsidiary, if any, that
is necessary before the Options or installments thereof will become exercisable. The Evidence of Award may provide for the earlier exercisability of such Options
in the event of the retirement, death or disability of a Participant, or a Change of Control.
(f) Any Evidence of Award Option may specify Management Objectives that must be achieved as a condition to the Options becoming exercisable.
(g) Options granted under this Plan may be (i) options, including, without limitation, Incentive Stock Options that are intended to qualify under particular
provisions of the Code, (ii) options that are not intended so to qualify, or (iii) combinations of the foregoing. Incentive Stock Options shall be designated as such
in the Evidence of Award and may only be granted to Participants who meet the definition of “employees” under Section 3401(c) of the Code.
(h) No grant of Options may be accompanied by a tandem award of dividend equivalents or provide for dividends, dividend equivalents or other
distributions to be paid on such Options.
(i) The exercise of an Option will result in the cancellation on a share for-share basis of any Tandem Appreciation Right authorized under Section 5 of
this Plan.
(j) Each Evidence of Award shall specify the period during which the Option may be exercisable; provided, however that no Option will be exercisable
more than 10 years from the Date of Grant (5 years for any Incentive Stock Option issued to any owner of 10% or more of the outstanding voting securities of
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries). Each Evidence of Award may provide for accelerated expiration of the Option upon the Participant’s Termination of
Employment.
5. Stock Appreciation Rights.
(a) The Board may, from time to time and upon such terms and conditions as it may determine, authorize the granting (i) to any Optionee, of Tandem
Appreciation Rights in respect of Options granted hereunder, or (ii) to any Eligible Individual, of Free-Standing Appreciation Rights. A Tandem Appreciation Right
will be a right of the Optionee, exercisable by surrender of the related Option, to receive from the Company an amount determined by the Board, which will be
expressed as a percentage of the Spread (not exceeding 100 percent) of the Tandem Appreciation Right at the time of exercise. Tandem Appreciation Rights
may be granted at any time prior to the exercise or termination of the related Options; provided, however, that a Tandem Appreciation Right awarded in relation
to an Incentive Stock Option must be granted concurrently with such Incentive Stock Option. A Free-Standing Appreciation Right will be a right of the Participant
to receive from the Company an amount determined by the Board, which will be expressed as a percentage of the Spread (not exceeding 100 percent) of the
Free Standing Appreciation Right at the time of exercise.

(b) Each grant of Stock Appreciation Rights will be evidenced by an Evidence of Award which shall identify the Stock Appreciation Right as a FreeStanding Appreciation Right or a Tandem Appreciation Right (and in the case of Tandem Appreciation Rights shall identify the related Option) and shall contain
such terms and conditions as the Board may approve that are not inconsistent with the following terms and conditions of this section and section 5(c) and 5(d)
below (as applicable), and those of the remainder of the Plan:
(i) Each Evidence of Award shall specify the amount payable upon exercise of the Stock Appreciation Right and may provide that such may be
paid by the Company in cash, in Common Stock or in any combination thereof and may retain in the Board the right to elect among those
alternatives.
(ii) Any Evidence of Award may specify that the amount payable on exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right may not exceed a maximum
specified by the Board at the Date of Grant.
(iii) No grant of Stock Appreciation Rights may be accompanied by a tandem award of dividend equivalents or provide for dividends, dividend
equivalents or other distributions to be paid on such Stock Appreciation Rights.
(c) Each Evidence of Award of Tandem Appreciation Rights shall specify the Base Price of such Tandem Appreciation Rights (which shall generally
equal the Option Price of the Related Option) and will provide that such Tandem Appreciation Rights may be exercised only at a time and during the period
when the related Option is also exercisable and at a time when the Spread is positive, and by surrender of the related Option for cancellation. Successive grants
of Tandem Appreciation Rights may be made to the same Participant regardless of whether any Tandem Appreciation Rights previously granted to the
Participant remain unexercised.
(d) Regarding Free-Standing Appreciation Rights only:
(i) Each Evidence of Award will specify in respect of each Free-Standing Appreciation Right a Base Price, which will be equal to or greater than
the Market Value per Share on the Date of Grant;
(ii) Each Evidence of Award will specify the period or periods of continuous service by the Participant with the Company or any Subsidiary, if
any, that is necessary before the Free-Standing Appreciation Right or installments thereof will become exercisable. The Evidence of Award
may provide for the earlier exercisability of such Free-Standing Appreciation Rights in the event of the retirement, death or disability of a
Participant, or a Change of Control;

(iii) Any Evidence of Award of Free-Standing Appreciation Rights may specify Management Objectives that must be achieved as a condition of
the Free-Standing Appreciation Rights becoming exercisable;
(iv) Each Evidence of Award shall specify the period during which the Free-Standing Appreciation Right may be exercisable; provided, however
that no Free-Standing Appreciation Right will be exercisable more than 10 years from the Date of Grant. Each Evidence of Award may
provide for accelerated expiration of the Free-Standing Appreciation Right upon the Participant’s Termination of Employment; and
(v) Successive grants of Free-Standing Appreciation Rights may be made to the same Participant regardless of whether any Free-Standing
Appreciation Rights previously granted to the Participant remain unexercised.
6 . Restricted Stock. The Board may, from time to time and upon such terms and conditions as it may determine, grant or sell Restricted Stock to
Participants. Each grant or sale of Restricted Stock will be evidenced by an Evidence of Award which shall contain such terms and conditions as the Board may
approve that are not inconsistent with the following terms and conditions and those of the remainder of the Plan:
(a) Each such grant or sale will constitute an immediate transfer of the ownership of Common Stock to the Participant in consideration of the
performance of services, entitling such Participant to voting, dividend and other ownership rights, but subject to the substantial risk of forfeiture and restrictions on
transfer hereinafter referred to.
(b) Each such grant or sale may be made without additional consideration or in consideration of a payment by such Participant that is less than or
equal to the Market Value per Share at the Date of Grant.
(c) Each Evidence of Award will provide that the Restricted Stock covered by such grant or sale will be subject to a “substantial risk of forfeiture” within
the meaning of Section 83 of the Code during the Restriction Period, which “substantial risk of forfeiture” may lapse upon the passage of time and/or upon
achievement of Management Objectives referred to in subparagraph (e) below.
(d) Each such grant or sale will provide that during the Restriction Period for which such substantial risk of forfeiture is to continue, the transferability of
the Restricted Stock will be prohibited or restricted in the manner and to the extent prescribed by the Board in the Evidence of Award (which restrictions may
include, without limitation, rights of repurchase or first refusal in the Company or provisions subjecting the Restricted Stock to a continuing substantial risk of
forfeiture in the hands of any transferee).

(e) Any Evidence of Award may specify Management Objectives that, if achieved, will result in termination or early termination of the restrictions
applicable to such Restricted Stock. Each Evidence of Award may specify in respect of such Management Objectives a minimum acceptable level of
achievement and may set forth a formula for determining the number of shares of Restricted Stock on which restrictions will terminate if performance is at or
above the minimum or threshold level or levels, or is at or above the target level or levels, but falls short of maximum achievement of the specified Management
Objectives.
(f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Plan, any Evidence of Award may provide for the earlier termination of restrictions on
such Restricted Stock in the event of the retirement, death or disability of a Participant, or a Change of Control.
(g) Any such grant or sale of Restricted Stock may require that any or all dividends or other distributions paid thereon during the Restriction Period be
subject to the same restrictions as the underlying award and/or reinvested or deemed reinvested in additional shares of Restricted Stock. In the event such
dividends are not reinvested or deemed reinvested in additional shares of Restricted Stock, they shall be paid in cash (without interest) on the date on which the
Restricted Period lapses.
(h) Unless otherwise directed by the Board, (i) all certificates representing shares of Restricted Stock will be held in custody by the Company until all
restrictions thereon will have lapsed, together with a stock power or powers executed by the Participant in whose name such certificates are registered,
endorsed in blank and covering such Shares, or (ii) all shares of Restricted Stock will be held at the Company’s transfer agent in book entry form with
appropriate restrictions relating to the transfer of such shares of Restricted Stock.
7 . Restricted Stock Units. The Board may, from time to time and upon such terms and conditions as it may determine, grant Restricted Stock Units to
Eligible Individuals. Each grant of Restricted Stock Units will be evidenced by an Evidence of Award which shall contain such terms and conditions as the Board
may approve that are not inconsistent with the following terms and conditions and those of the remainder of the Plan:
(a) Each such grant will constitute the agreement by the Company to deliver one share of Common Stock per Restricted Stock Unit (or to deliver the
cash equivalent thereof) to the Participant in the future in consideration of the performance of services, but subject to the fulfillment of such conditions (which
may include the achievement of Management Objectives) during the Restriction Period as the Board may specify in the Evidence of Award. Each Evidence of
Award may specify in respect of such Management Objectives a minimum acceptable level of achievement and may set forth a formula for determining the
number of Common Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units as to which restrictions will terminate if performance is at or above the minimum or threshold
level or levels, or is at or above the target level or levels, but falls short of maximum achievement of the specified Management Objectives.
(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Plan, any Evidence of Award may provide for the earlier lapse or modification of the
Restriction Period in the event of the retirement, death or disability of a Participant, or a change of Control.
(c) During the Restriction Period, the Participant will have no right to transfer any rights under his or her award and will have no rights of ownership in
the Restricted Stock Units and will have no right to vote the Common Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units, but the Board may in the Evidence of Award
authorize the payment of dividend equivalents on either a current, deferred or contingent basis, either in cash or in additional shares of Common Stock, provided
that dividend equivalents shall not be paid in a manner that would cause any tax to be due under 409A of the Code.

(d) Each Evidence of Award Unit will specify the time and manner of payment of the Restricted Stock Units that have been earned. Each Evidence of
Award will specify that the amount payable with respect thereto will be paid by the Company in Common Stock or cash. If a cash payment is made in lieu of
delivering shares of Common Stock, the amount of such payment shall be based on the Market Value per Share as of the date on which the Restriction Period
lapsed with respect to each Restricted Stock Unit.
8 . Performance Shares and Performance Units. The Board may, from time to time and upon such terms and conditions as it may determine, grant
Performance Shares and Performance Units that will become payable to a Participant upon achievement of specified Management Objectives during the
Performance Period. Each grant or sale of Performance Shares and Performance Units will be evidenced by an Evidence of Award which shall contain such
terms and conditions as the Board may approve that are not inconsistent with the following terms and conditions and those of the remainder of the Plan:
(a) Each Evidence of Award will specify the number of Performance Shares or Performance Units to which it pertains, which number may be subject
to adjustment to reflect changes in compensation or other factors.
(b) The Performance Period with respect to each Performance Share or Performance Unit will be such period of time as will be determined by the
Board at the time of grant, and may be subject to earlier lapse or other modification in the event of the retirement, death or disability of a Participant, or a
Change of Control.
(c) Any Evidence of Award will specify Management Objectives which, if achieved, will result in payment or early payment of the award, and each
Evidence of Award may specify in respect of such Management Objectives a minimum acceptable level of achievement and may set forth a formula for
determining the number of Performance Shares or Performance Units that will be earned if performance is at or above the minimum or threshold level or levels,
or is at or above the target level or levels, but falls short of maximum achievement of the specified Management Objectives. The grant of Performance Shares or
Performance Units will specify that, before the Performance Shares or Performance Units will be earned and paid, the Board must certify that the Management
Objectives have been satisfied.
(d) Each Evidence of Award will specify the payment to be made pursuant to any award of Performance Shares or Performance Units and the time
and manner of such payment. Any Evidence of Award may specify that the amount payable with respect thereto may be paid by the Company in cash, in
Common Stock or in any combination thereof and may retain in the Board the right to elect among those alternatives.
(e) Any Evidence of Award may specify that the amount payable or the number of shares of Common Stock issued with respect thereto may not
exceed maximums specified by the Board at the Date of Grant.
(f) The Evidence of Award may provide for the payment of dividend equivalents to the holder thereof either in cash or in additional shares of Common
Stock subject in all cases to payment on a contingent basis based on the Participant’s earning of the Performance Shares with respect to which such dividend
equivalents are paid, provided that dividend equivalents shall not be paid in a manner that would cause any tax to be due under 409A of the Code.

9. Other Awards.
(a) The Board may, subject to limitations under applicable law, grant to any Eligible Individual such other awards that may be denominated or payable
in, valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwise based on, or related to, shares of Common Stock or factors that may influence the value of such
shares, including, without limitation, convertible or exchangeable debt securities, other rights convertible or exchangeable into Common Stock, purchase rights
for Common Stock, awards with value and payment contingent upon performance of the Company or specified Subsidiaries, affiliates or other business units
thereof or any other factors designated by the Board, and awards valued by reference to the book value of shares of Common Stock or the value of securities of,
or the performance of specified Subsidiaries or affiliates or other business units of the Company. The Board shall determine the terms and conditions of such
awards. Shares of Common Stock delivered pursuant to an award in the nature of a purchase right granted under this Section 9 shall be purchased for such
consideration, paid for at such time, by such methods, and in such forms, including, without limitation, cash, shares of Common Stock, other awards, notes or
other property, as the Board shall determine.
(b) Cash awards, as an element of or supplement to any other award granted under this Plan, may also be granted pursuant to this Section 9 of this
Plan.
(c) The Board may grant Common Stock as a bonus, or may grant other awards in lieu of obligations of the Company or a Subsidiary to pay cash or
deliver other property under this Plan or under other plans or compensatory arrangements, subject to such terms as shall be determined by the Board in a
manner that complies with Section 409A of the Code.
(d) Share-based awards pursuant to this Section 9 are not required to be subject to any minimum vesting period.
10. Transferability.
(a) Except as otherwise determined by the Board, no Option, Stock Appreciation Right or other Award shall be transferable by the Participant except by
will or the laws of descent and distribution, and in no event shall any such Award be transferred for value. Except as otherwise determined by the Board, Options
and Stock Appreciation Rights will be exercisable during the Participant’s lifetime only by him or her or, in the event of the Participant’s legal incapacity to do so,
by his or her guardian or legal representative acting on behalf of the Participant in a fiduciary capacity under state law and/or court supervision.
(b) Any Evidence of Award may provide that part or all of the shares of Common Stock that are (i) to be issued or transferred by the Company upon
(A) the exercise of Options or Stock Appreciation Rights, (B) upon the termination of the Restriction Period applicable to Restricted Stock Units or (C) upon
payment under any grant of Performance Shares or Performance Units or (ii) no longer subject to the substantial risk of forfeiture and restrictions on transfer
referred to in Section 6 of this Plan, will be subject to further restrictions on transfer that are consistent with applicable law.

11. Change in Control.
(a) In the event of a Change in Control, but notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, the Board may, in its discretion, take any of
the actions listed in this Section 11.
(i) provide that any Options and Stock Appreciation Rights outstanding which are not then exercisable and vested shall become immediately
vested and fully exercisable;
(ii) provide that any Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Unit and other Awards shall become vested in full;
(iii) provide that Performance Criteria applicable to Performance Shares and Performance Units or Management Objectives applicable to other
Awards shall be deemed to be satisfied and such Awards shall be considered to be earned and payable in full;
(iv) provide for the assumption or substitution of equal or greater value of any Award on such terms and conditions as the Board deems
appropriate and consistent with Section 409A of the Code;
(v) make such settlements of outstanding Awards as it deems appropriate, including, without limitation, the cancellation of outstanding Awards
in exchange for payments of cash, property or a combination thereof having an aggregate value equal to the value of such Awards, as
determined by the Board in its sole discretion; and
(vi) provide for the cancellation without payment of each Option or Stock Appreciation Right or other Award with an Option Price or Base Price
(or similar amount) greater than the consideration offered in connection with any such Change in Control.
(a) The Board’s actions need not be uniform, and may result in disparate treatment among Participants, Awards, and portions of the same
Award, as the Board determines in its sole and absolute discretion.
(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event the Board does not, for any reason, provide for the assumption or substitution with an
award of equal or greater value of any Award (or portion thereof) pursuant to the Change in Control transaction, such Award (or portion
thereof) shall become vested in full immediately prior to such Change in Control.

(c) To the extent the Board provides for the assumption or substitution with an award of equal or greater value of an outstanding Award
(or portion thereof), then, to the extent not otherwise vested by the Board in accordance with the provisions of this Section 11 and
notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to the contrary, during the 12-month period following a Change in Control: (i) upon the
involuntary termination of an Optionee or Participant’s employment other than termination for Cause; (ii) upon the voluntary termination
of employment by the Participant following a material and adverse change in the Optionee or Participant’s compensation,
responsibilities, functions or reporting relationship; or (iii) in the event an Optionee or Participant resigns rather than accept a
mandatory relocation greater than 50 miles; then, in any such event, all outstanding Awards held by such Optionee or Participant shall
become vested as of the Date of Termination. Any Option or Stock Appreciation Right held by the Optionee or Participant as of the
date of the Change in Control that remains outstanding as of the date of Termination of Employment may thereafter be exercised, until
the earlier of (i) the third anniversary of the date of Termination of Employment; or (ii) the expiration of the Term of such Option or
Stock Appreciation Right. Restricted Stock shall immediately be vested free and transferable. Restricted Stock Units, Performance
Shares, Performance Units and other Awards shall be vested as of the Termination of Employment and settled as soon as practicable
as specified in the Evidence of Award; provided, however, that if the Award is subject to Section 409A and the Optionee or Participant
is a Specified Employee, the Award shall be settled on the first day of the seventh month following the Participant’s Termination of
Employment.
(d) For purposes of the Plan, a “Change in Control” shall mean any of the following events:
(i) The acquisition by any individual, entity or group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act (a
“Person”)) of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act) of 25% or more of the
then-outstanding Shares of Common Stock plus any other outstanding shares of stock of the Corporation entitled to vote in the
election of directors (the “Outstanding Company Voting Securities”); provided, however, that the Company and any employee
benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored by it shall not be deemed to be a Person; or
(ii) A change in the composition of the Board such that the individuals who constitute the Board (the “Incumbent Board”) cease for any
reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board. For this purpose, any individual whose election or nomination for election by
the Company’s shareholders was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board
shall be considered a member of the Incumbent Board; or

(iii) T h e consummation of a reorganization, merger, statutory share exchange or consolidation or similar corporate transaction
involving the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or a sale or other disposition of substantially all of the assets of the Company or
a material acquisition of assets or stock of another entity by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (each, a “Business
Combination”) if:
(A) the individuals and entities that were the beneficial owners of the Outstanding Company Voting Securities immediately prior
to such Business Combination do not beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the then-outstanding shares
o f stock and the combined voting power of the then-outstanding voting securities of the corporation resulting from such
Business Combination; or
(B) a Person beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 25% or more of the then-outstanding shares of stock of the corporation
resulting from such Business Combination; or
(C) members of the Incumbent Board do not comprise at least a majority of the members of the board of directors of the
corporation resulting from such Business Combination; or
(iv) A complete liquidation or dissolution of the Company.
(e) If an Award is subject to Section 409A of the Code, any provision regarding the timing or form of payment upon a Change in Control
shall be set forth in the Award Agreement when the Award is granted. The payment or settlement of any such Award that is subject to
Section 409A of the Code shall accelerate upon a Change in Control only if the event also constitutes a “change in ownership,”
“change in effective control,” or “change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company’s assets” as defined under Section
409A of the Code. Any adjustment to the Award that does not affect the Award’s status under Section 409A (including, but not limited
to, accelerated vesting or adjustment of the amount of the Award) may occur upon a Change-in-Control as defined in the Plan without
regard to this paragraph, even if the event does not constitute a “change in ownership,” “change in effective control,” or “change in the
ownership of a substantial portion of the Company’s assets” under Section 409A.
12. Securities Act Compliance.
(a) If the Board deems it necessary to comply with the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the regulations and rulings thereunder, the Board may
require a written investment intent representation by the Optionee or Participant and may require a restrictive legend be affixed to certificates for shares of
Common Stock.
(b) If, based upon the opinion of counsel for the Company, the Committee determines that the exercise or nonforfeitability of, or delivery of benefits
pursuant to, any Award would violate any applicable provision of (i) U.S. federal, state or local securities law or (ii) the listing requirements of any national
securities exchange on which are listed any of the Company’s equity securities, then the Committee may postpone any such exercise, nonforfeitability or
delivery, as the case may be, until such provisions would be satisfied. Nothing herein shall require the Company to take any actions to cause such exercise,
nonforfeitability or delivery to comply with all such provisions.

13. Adjustments. The Board shall make or provide for such adjustments in the numbers of shares of Common Stock covered by outstanding Awards, the
Option Price of Options and the Base Price of Stock Appreciation Rights, Options and in the kind of shares covered thereby, as the Board, in its sole discretion,
exercised in good faith, may determine is equitably required to prevent dilution or enlargement of the rights of Participants or Optionees that otherwise would
result from (a) any stock dividend, stock split, combination of shares, recapitalization or other change in the capital structure of the Company, (b) any merger,
consolidation, spin-off, split-off, spin-out, split-up, reorganization, partial or complete liquidation or other distribution of assets, issuance of rights or warrants to
purchase securities, or (c) any other corporate transaction or event having an effect similar to any of the foregoing. The Board shall also make or provide for
such adjustments in the numbers of shares of Common Stock specified in Section 3 of this Plan as the Board in its sole discretion, exercised in good faith, may
determine is appropriate to reflect any transaction or event described in this Section 13; provided, however, that any such adjustment to the number specified in
Section 3(a)(i) will be made only if and to the extent that such adjustment would not cause any Option intended to qualify as an Incentive Stock Option to fail to
so qualify.
14. Administration of the Plan.
(a) This Plan will be administered by the Board, which may from time to time delegate all or any part of its authority under this Plan to the
Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board (or a subcommittee thereof), as constituted from time to time. To the extent of any such delegation,
references in this Plan to the Board will be deemed to be references to such Committee or subcommittee. A majority of the Board or Committee (or
subcommittee), as applicable, will constitute a quorum, and the action of the members of the Board or Committee (or subcommittee) present at any meeting at
which a quorum is present, or acts unanimously approved in writing, will be the acts of the Board or Committee (or subcommittee).
(b) The interpretation and construction by the Board of any provision of this Plan or of any agreement, notification or document evidencing the grant of
Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares, Performance Units or other awards pursuant to Section 9 of
this Plan and any determination by the Board pursuant to any provision of this Plan or of any such agreement, notification or document will be final and
conclusive. No member of the Board will be liable for any such action or determination made in good faith.
(c) The Board or, to the extent of any delegation as provided in Section 14(a), the Committee, may delegate to one or more of its members or to one
or more officers of the Company, or to one or more agents or advisors, such administrative duties or powers as it may deem advisable, and the Board, the
committee, or any person to whom duties or powers have been delegated as aforesaid, may employ one or more persons to render advice with respect to any
responsibility the Board, the Committee or such person may have under the Plan. The Board or the Committee may, by resolution and consistent with applicable
law, authorize one or more officers of the Company to do one or both of the following on the same basis as the Board or the Committee: (i) designate
employees to be recipients of awards under this Plan; (ii) determine the size of any such awards; provided, however, that (A) the Board or the Committee shall
not delegate such responsibilities to any such officer for awards granted to an employee who is an officer, Director, or more than 10% beneficial owner of any
class of the Company’s equity securities that is registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act, as determined by the Board in accordance with Section
16 of the Exchange Act; (B) the resolution providing for such authorization sets forth the total number of shares of Common Stock such officer(s) may grant; and
(C) the officer(s) shall report periodically to the Board or the Committee, as the case may be, regarding the nature and scope of the awards granted pursuant to
the authority delegated.

15. Clawback. Any benefits the Optionee or Participant may receive under this Plan shall be subject to repayment or forfeiture as may be required to comply
with (i) any applicable listing standards of a national securities exchange adopted in accordance with Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act (regarding recovery of erroneously awarded compensation) and any implementing rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission adopted thereunder, (ii) similar rules under the laws of any other jurisdiction and (iii) any policies adopted by the Company to implement
such requirements, all to the extent determined by the Company in its discretion to be applicable to the Optionee or Participant.
16. Recapture Provisions. Any Evidence of Award may provide for the cancellation or forfeiture of an award or the forfeiture and repayment to the
Company of any gain related to an award, or other provisions intended to have a similar effect, upon such terms and conditions as may be determined from time
to time by the Board.
17. Non U.S. Participants. In order to facilitate the making of any grant or combination of grants under this Plan, the Board may provide for such special
terms for awards to Participants who are foreign nationals or who are employed by the Company or any Subsidiary outside of the United States of America or
who provide services to the Company under an agreement with a foreign nation or agency, as the Board may consider necessary or appropriate to
accommodate differences in local law, tax policy or custom. Moreover, the Board may approve such supplements to or amendments, restatements or alternative
versions of this Plan (including without limitation, sub-plans) as it may consider necessary or appropriate for such purposes, without thereby affecting the terms of
this Plan as in effect for any other purpose, and the Secretary or other appropriate officer of the Company may certify any such document as having been
approved and adopted in the same manner as this Plan. No such special terms, supplements, amendments or restatements, however, will include any
provisions that are inconsistent with the terms of this Plan as then in effect unless this Plan could have been amended to eliminate such inconsistency without
further approval by the stockholders of the Company.
18. Withholding Taxes. To the extent that the Company is required to withhold federal, state, local or foreign taxes in connection with any payment made or
benefit realized by a Participant or other person under this Plan, and the amounts available to the Company for such withholding are insufficient, it will be a
condition to the receipt of such payment or the realization of such benefit that the Participant or such other person make arrangements satisfactory to the
Company for payment of the balance of such taxes required to be withheld, which arrangements (in the discretion of the Board) may include relinquishment of a
portion of such benefit. If a Participant fails to make arrangements for the payment of tax, the Company may withhold such tax from any other form of
remuneration payable to the Participant, including, if it determines in its sole and absolute discretion, from shares of Common Stock payable pursuant to the
Award having a value equal to the amount required to be withheld. When a Participant is required to pay the Company an amount required to be withheld under
applicable income and employment tax laws, the Participant may elect to satisfy the obligation, in whole or in part, by electing to have withheld, from the shares
required to be delivered to the Participant, shares of Common Stock having a value equal to the amount required to be withheld, or by delivering to the Company
other shares of Common Stock held by such Participant. The shares used for tax withholding will be valued at an amount equal to the Market Value per Share of
such Common Stock on the date the benefit is to be included in Participant’s income. In no event shall the Market Value per Share of the Common Stock to be
withheld and delivered pursuant to this Section 18 to satisfy applicable withholding taxes in connection with the benefit exceed the minimum amount of taxes
required to be withheld. Participants shall also make such arrangements as the Company may require for the payment of any withholding tax obligation that may
arise in connection with the disposition of shares of Common Stock acquired upon the exercise of Options.

19. Amendments, Termination Etc.
(a) The Board may at any time and from time to time amend the Plan in whole or in part; provided, however, that if an amendment to the Plan (i)
would materially increase the benefits accruing to participants under the Plan, (ii) would materially increase the number of securities which may be issued under
the Plan, (iii) would materially modify the requirements for participation in the Plan or (iv) must otherwise be approved by the stockholders of the Company in
order to comply with applicable law or the rules of the principal national securities exchange upon which the Common Stock is traded or quoted, then, such
amendment will be subject to stockholder approval and will not be effective unless and until such approval has been obtained.
(b) Except in connection with a corporate transaction or event described in Section 13 of this Plan, the terms of outstanding awards may not be
amended to reduce the Option Price of outstanding Options or the Base Price of outstanding Stock Appreciation Rights, or cancel outstanding Options or Stock
Appreciation Rights in exchange for cash, other awards or Options or Stock Appreciation Rights with an Option Price or Base Price, as applicable, that is less
than the Option Price of the original Options or Base Price of the original Stock Appreciation Rights, as applicable, without stockholder approval.
(c) If permitted by Section 409A of the Code, but subject to Section 20d) hereof, in case of termination of employment by reason of death, disability or
normal or early retirement, or in the case of unforeseeable emergency or other special circumstances, of a Participant who holds an Option or Stock
Appreciation Right not immediately exercisable in full, or any shares of Restricted Stock as to which the substantial risk of forfeiture or the prohibition or
restriction on transfer has not lapsed, or any Restricted Stock Units as to which the Restriction Period has not been completed, or any Performance Shares or
Performance Units which have not been fully earned, or any other awards made pursuant to Section 9 subject to any vesting schedule or transfer restriction, or
who holds Common Stock subject to any transfer restriction imposed pursuant to Section 10(b) of this Plan, or in the case of a change of control, the Board may,
in its sole discretion, accelerate the time at which such Option, Stock Appreciation Right or other award may be exercised or the time at which such substantial
risk of forfeiture or prohibition or restriction on transfer will lapse or the time when such Restriction Period will end or the time at which such Performance
Shares or Performance Units will be deemed to have been fully earned or the time when such transfer restriction will terminate or may waive any other limitation
or requirement under any such award.
(d) Subject to Section 20(b) hereof, the Board may amend the terms of any award theretofore granted under this Plan prospectively or retroactively.
Subject to Section 13 above, no such amendment shall impair any material right of any Participant without his or her consent. The Board may, in its discretion,
terminate this Plan at any time. Termination of this Plan will not affect the rights of Participants or their successors under any awards outstanding hereunder and
not exercised in full on the date of termination.

20. Compliance with Section 409A of the Code.
(a) To the extent applicable, it is intended that this Plan and any grants made hereunder comply with the provisions of Section 409A of the Code, so
that the income inclusion provisions of Section 409A(a)(1) of the Code do not apply to the Participants. This Plan and any grants made hereunder shall be
administered in a manner consistent with this intent. Any reference in this Plan to Section 409A of the Code will also include any regulations or any other formal
guidance promulgated with respect to such Section by the U.S. Department of the Treasury or the Internal Revenue Service.
(b) Neither a Participant nor any of a Participant’s creditors or beneficiaries shall have the right to subject any deferred compensation (within the
meaning of Section 409A of the Code) payable under this Plan and grants hereunder to any anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge,
encumbrance, attachment or garnishment. Except as permitted under Section 409A of the Code, any deferred compensation (within the meaning of Section
409A of the Code) payable to a Participant or for a Participant’s benefit under this Plan and grants hereunder may not be reduced by, or offset against, any
amount owing by a Participant to the Company or any of its affiliates.
(c) If, at the time of a Participant’s separation from service (within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code), (i) the Participant shall be a specified
employee (within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code and using the identification methodology selected by the Company from time to time) and (ii) the
Company shall make a good faith determination that an amount payable hereunder constitutes deferred compensation (within the meaning of Section 409A of
the Code) the payment of which is required to be delayed pursuant to the six-month delay rule set forth in Section 409A of the Code in order to avoid taxes or
penalties under Section 409A of the Code, then the Company shall not pay such amount on the otherwise scheduled payment date but shall instead pay it,
without interest, on the earlier of the tenth business day following (i) the seventh month after such Separation of Service, (ii) the Participant’s death, (iii) or such
earlier date or event on which such amount may be paid without violating the provisions of Code Section 409A.
(d) Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan and grants hereunder to the contrary, in light of the uncertainty with respect to the proper application of
Section 409A of the Code, the Company reserves the right to make amendments to this Plan and grants hereunder as the Company deems necessary or
desirable to avoid the imposition of taxes or penalties under Section 409A of the Code. In any case, a Participant shall be solely responsible and liable for the
satisfaction of all taxes and penalties that may be imposed on a Participant or for a Participant’s account in connection with this Plan and grants hereunder
(including any taxes and penalties under Section 409A of the Code), and neither the Company nor any of its affiliates shall have any obligation to indemnify or
otherwise hold a Participant harmless from any or all of such taxes or penalties.
21. Code Section 162(m) Provisions.
(a) Covered Employees.
(i)

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, if the Committee determines that any Award is being granted to a Participant
who is, or is likely to be, as of the end of the tax year in which the Company would claim a tax deduction in connection with such Award, a
“covered employee” (within the meaning of 162(m) (3) of the Code), then the Committee may provide that this Section 21 is applicable to
such Award.

(b) Performance Goals.
(i)

If an Award is subject to this Section 18, then the lapsing of restrictions thereon and the distribution of Shares or other property
pursuant thereto, as applicable, shall be subject to the achievement of one or more specified levels of Performance Criteria as defined in
Appendix A. Such Performance Criteria may be based solely by reference to the Company’s performance or the performance of a division
or business unit of the Company, or based upon the relative performance of other companies or upon comparisons of any of the indicators
of performance relative to other companies. The Committee may also exclude the impact of an event or occurrence which the Committee
determines should appropriately be excluded, including (a) restructurings, discontinued operations, extraordinary items, and other unusual or
non-recurring charges, (b) an event either not directly related to the operations of the Company or not within the reasonable control of the
Company’s management, or (c) a change in accounting standards required by generally accepted accounting principles; provided that the
Committee may not make any adjustment to the extent it would adversely affect the qualification of any compensation payable under such
Performance Criteria as “performance-based compensation” under Section 162(m). Such Performance Criteria shall be set by the

Committee within the time period prescribed by, and shall otherwise comply with the requirements of, Section 162(m) of the Code, or any successor provision
thereto, and the regulations thereunder. Before any payments are made with respect to any Awards subject to this Section 21, the Committee shall certify in
writing whether and to what extent the Performance Criteria relating to such payment have been met.
(c) Other Restrictions.
(i)

The Committee shall have the power to impose such other restrictions on Awards subject to this Section 21 as it may deem
necessary or appropriate to ensure that such Awards satisfy all requirements for “performance-based compensation” within the meaning of
Section 162(m)(4)(C) of the Code, or any successor provision thereto.

22. Code Section 280G Reduction in Awards.
(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Plan, in the event the Company determines, in its sole discretion, that any payment or
distribution by the Company to or for the benefit of any Participant (whether paid or payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the terms of this Plan or
otherwise) (collectively, “Payments”) would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code or any interest or penalties are incurred by the
Participant with respect to such excise tax (such excise tax, together with any such interest and penalties, are hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Excise
Tax”), then there shall be made a calculation under which such Payments provided to the Participant are reduced to the extent necessary so that no portion
thereof shall be subject to the Excise Tax (the “4999 Limit”). A comparison shall then be made between (A) Participant’s Net After-Tax Benefit (as defined below)
assuming application of the 4999 Limit; and (B) Participant’s Net After-Tax Benefit without application of the 4999 Limit. If (B) exceeds (A), then no limit on the
Payments received by Participant under this Agreement shall be imposed by this Section 22. Otherwise, the amount payable to Executive pursuant to this
Agreement shall be reduced so that no such Payment is subject to the Excise Tax. “Net After-Tax Benefit” shall mean the sum of (x) all payments that Participant
receives or is entitled to receive that are in the nature of compensation and contingent on a change in the ownership or effective control of the Company or in
the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of the Company within the meaning of Code Section 280G(b)(2) (either, a “Section 280G Transaction”), less
(y) the amount of federal, state, local and employment taxes and Excise Tax (if any) imposed with respect to such payments.

(b) In the event that a reduction in Payments is required pursuant to the immediately preceding paragraph, then, except as provided below with
respect to Payments that consist of health and welfare benefits, the reduction in Payments shall be implemented by determining the “Parachute Payment Ratio”
(as defined below) for each Payment and then reducing the Payments in order beginning with the Payment with the highest Parachute Payment Ratio. For
Payments with the same Parachute Payment Ratio, such Payments shall be reduced based on the time of payment of such Payments, with amounts being paid
furthest in the future being reduced first. For Payments with the same Parachute Payment Ratio and the same time of payment, such Payments shall be reduced
on a pro-rata basis (but not below zero) prior to reducing Payments next in order for reduction. For purposes of this Section, “Parachute Payment Ratio” shall
mean a fraction, the numerator of which is the value of the applicable Payment as determined for purposes of Code Section 280G, and the denominator of which
is the financial present value of such Parachute Payment, determined at the date such payment is treated as made for purposes of Code Section 280G (the
“Valuation Date”). In determining the denominator for purposes of the preceding sentence (1) present values shall be determined using the same discount rate
that applies for purposes of discounting payments under Code Section 280G; (2) the financial value of payments shall be determined generally under Q&A 12,
13 and 14 of Treasury Regulation 1.280G-1; and (3) other reasonable valuation assumptions as determined by Company shall be used. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Payments that consist of health and welfare benefits shall be reduced after all other Payments, with health and welfare Payments being made furthest
in the future being reduced first.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Participant is a party to an employment or other agreement with the Company or participates in a severance
program sponsored by the Company or one of its affiliates that contains express provisions regarding Section 280G or Section 4999 of the Code (or any similar
successor provision), the Section 280G or Section 4999 provisions of such employment or other agreement or plan, as applicable, shall control as to any
Payments due that Participant.
23. Governing Law. The Plan and all grants and awards and actions taken thereunder shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal
substantive laws of the State of Wyoming.
24. Effective Date/Expiration. This Plan will be effective as of the Effective Date, which is the date on which the Plan is adopted by the Board. The Plan shall
be submitted to the Company’s stockholders for approval. Unless the Plan is approved by the Company’s stockholders within twelve (12) months before or after
the Effective Date, the Plan and all Awards made under it shall be void and of no force and effect. No grant will be made under this Plan more than ten (10)
years from the date the Plan is adopted, or the date the Plan is approved by the Company’s shareholders, whichever is earlier but all grants made on or prior to
such date will continue in effect thereafter subject to the terms thereof and of this Plan. The provisions of this Section 24 shall be applied to the Plan, as
amended and restated, as if the Plan were originally established on the date that the Amended and Restated 2012 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan is
adopted, and accordingly, the Plan will not expire until ten (10) years following the date the Amended and Restated 2012 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan
is adopted.

25. Miscellaneous.
(a) The Company will not be required to issue any fractional shares of Common Stock pursuant to this Plan. The Board may provide for the elimination
of fractions or for the settlement of fractions in cash.
(b) This Plan will not confer upon any Participant any right with respect to continuance of employment or other service with the Company or any
Subsidiary, nor will it interfere in any way with any right the Company or any Subsidiary would otherwise have to terminate such Participant’s employment or
other service at any time.
(c) To the extent that any provision of this Plan would prevent any Option that was intended to qualify as an Incentive Stock Option from qualifying as
such, that provision will be null and void with respect to such Option. Such provision, however, will remain in effect for other Options and there will be no further
effect on any provision of this Plan.
(d) No award under this Plan may be exercised by the holder thereof if such exercise, and the receipt of cash or stock thereunder, would be, in the
opinion of counsel selected by the Board, contrary to law or the regulations of any duly constituted authority having jurisdiction over this Plan.
(e) Absence or leave approved by a duly constituted officer of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall not be considered interruption or
termination of service of any employee for any purposes of this Plan or awards granted hereunder.
(f) No Participant shall have any rights as a stockholder with respect to any shares subject to awards granted to him or her under this Plan prior to the
date as of which he or she is actually recorded as the holder of such shares upon the stock records of the Company.
(g) The Board may, to the extent compliant with applicable law, condition the grant of any award or combination of awards authorized under this Plan
on the surrender or deferral by the Participant of his or her right to receive a cash bonus or other compensation otherwise payable by the Company or a
Subsidiary to the Participant.
(h) If any provision of the Plan is or becomes invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, or would disqualify the Plan or any award under any
law deemed applicable by the Board, such provision shall be construed or deemed amended or limited in scope to conform to applicable laws or, in the
discretion of the Board, it shall be stricken and the remainder of the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

Exhibit A
Section 162(m) Performance Criteria
Pursuant to Section 18(b)(i), performance goals established for purposes of conditioning the grant of an Award shall be based on one or more of the following
performance criteria (“Performance Criteria”) and need not be the same for each Participant: (i) the attainment of certain target levels of, or a specified
percentage increase in, revenues, operating earnings, income before income taxes and extraordinary items, net income, earnings before income tax, earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, or a combination of any or all of the foregoing; (ii) the attainment of certain target levels of, or a percentage
increase in, after-tax or pre-tax profits including that attributable to continuing and/or other operations; (iii) the attainment of certain target levels of, or a specified
increase in, operational cash flow; (iv) the achievement of a certain level of, reduction of, or other specified objectives with regard to limiting the level of increase
in, all or a portion of, the Company’s bank debt or other long-term or short-term public or private debt or other similar financial obligations of the Company, which
may be calculated net of such cash balances and/or other offsets and adjustments as may be established by the Committee; (v) the attainment of a specified
level of, or specified percentage increase in, earnings per share or earnings per share from continuing operations; (vi) the attainment of certain target levels of,
or a specified increase in, return on capital employed or return on invested capital; (vii) the attainment of certain target levels of, or a percentage increase in,
after-tax or pre-tax return on stockholders’ equity; (viii) the attainment of certain target levels of, or a specified increase in, economic value added targets based
on a cash flow return on investment formula; (ix) the attainment of certain target levels in the fair market value of the Company’s shares; (x) the growth in the
value of an investment in the Company’s shares assuming the reinvestment of dividends; (xi) the attainment of certain target levels of, or a percentage increase
in, oil and gas proved developed and proved undeveloped reserves; (xii) the attainment of certain target levels of, or a percentage increase in, average daily oil
and gas production, (xiii) the attainment of certain target levels of mineral reserve and resource replacement, and (xiv) the attainment of certain target levels of
mineral production. For purposes of item (i) above, “extraordinary items” shall mean all items of gain, loss or expense for the fiscal year determined to be
extraordinary or unusual in nature or infrequent in occurrence or related to a corporate transaction (including a disposition or acquisition) or related to a change
in accounting principle, all as determined in accordance with standards established by Opinion No. 30 of the Accounting Principles Board.
In addition, such Performance Criteria may be based upon the attainment of specified levels of Company (or Subsidiary, division or other operational unit of the
Company) performance under one or more of the measures described above relative to the performance of other peer companies. To the extent permitted under
Code Section 162(m) (including compliance with any requirements for stockholder approval) and Code Section 409A, the Committee may: (i) designate
additional business criteria on which the Performance Criteria may be based or (ii) adjust, modify or amend the aforementioned business criteria.

EX-10.5 4 ex10-5.htm

EX-31.1 5 ex31-1.htm
Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, David A. Veltri, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of U.S. Energy Corp.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant, as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
Date: November 13, 2018
By: /s/ David A. Veltri
David A. Veltri
President, Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Ryan Smith, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of U.S. Energy Corp.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant, as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
Date: November 13, 2018
By: /s/ Ryan Smith
Ryan Smith
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of U.S. Energy Corp. (the “Company”) for the period ended September 30, 2018 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002, to my knowledge, that:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 13, 2018
By: /s/ David A. Veltri
David A. Veltri
President, Chief Executive Officer
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Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of U.S. Energy Corp. (the “Company”) for the period ended September 30, 2018 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002, to my knowledge, that:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: November 13, 2018
By: /s/ Ryan Smith
Ryan Smith
Chief Financial Officer

